UNIVERSITY OF NAPLES FEDERICO II



# PH.D. PROGRAM IN

# **CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE**

CURRICULUM IN TRANSLATIONAL MEDICAL SCIENCES

XXXV Cycle (Years 2019-2022)

**Chairman: Prof. Francesco Beguinot** 

**PH.D.** THESIS

# MELANOMA DERIVED SOLUBLE MEDIATORS MODULATE NEUTROPHIL PLASTICITY

TUTOR

PH.D. STUDENT

Prof. Maria Rosaria Galdiero

Dr. Luca Modestino

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Pages
ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	2
1. Cancer Development: the six hallmarks revised	2
2. Cancer related inflammation	3
3. The neutrophils	4
3.1. Granulocytopoiesis	5
3.2. Neutrophil activation	7
3.3. Neutrophils and Inflammation	8
3.4. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)	9
3.5. Neutrophils and NETs in Cancer	12
4. Melanoma	14
5. Role of Immune System in Melanoma	15
AIM	16
MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
Cell cultures and preparation of tumor conditioned media (CM)	17
Neutrophil purification and culture	17
Cell migration assay	18
Apoptosis assay	19
Flow cytometry	19
Fluorescence, time-lapse, and high-content microscopy	20
Quantification of soluble mediators in culture supernatants or total protein lysates	21
Serum NET detection	22
Patients Statistical analysis	22
	25
KESULIS Malanama conditioned modio induced DMNI shometonic	24
A 275 conditioned media memoted neutronhil survival	24
A375 conditioned media promoted neutrophil survival	23
A375 conditioned media induced PMIN activation	20
A3/5 conditioned media modified neutrophil morphology and kinetic properties	26
Melanoma conditioned media induced MMP-9 and MPO release	27
Melanoma conditioned media induced NET release from human neutrophils	28
in melanoma patients	20
DISCUSSION	29 30
FIGURES	36
REFERENCES	44

# ABSTRACT

Polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs) are main effector cells in the inflammatory responses. The association between PMN infiltration in cancer patients remain to be clarified. Metastatic melanoma is the most lethal type of skin cancer with an increasing incidence over the last decades. Few studies investigated the role of PMNs in human melanoma. The aim of this study was to investigate the role of PMNs and their mediators in human melanoma. Highly purified human PMNs from healthy donors were stimulated, in vitro, with conditioned media derived from the melanoma cell lines SKMEL28 and A375 (melanoma-CM) as well as from primary melanocytes as control. PMN functions (chemotaxis, survival, activation, cell tracking, morphology and NETs release) were evaluated. We found that the A375 cell line produced soluble factors able to promote PMN chemotaxis, survival, activation, and to modify PMN morphological changes and kinetic properties. Furthermore, melanoma-CM induced NET release from PMNs. Coherently, primary melanocytes CM did not modify any PMN biological behavior. In addition, serum levels of MPO, MMP-9, CXCL8/IL-8, GM-CSF and NETs components were significantly increased in advanced melanoma patients compared to healthy controls. Melanoma cell lines produce soluble factors able to 'educate' PMNs towards an activated functional state. Metastatic melanoma patients display increased circulating levels of soluble neutrophil-related mediators and NETs, suggesting that a neutrophil-related signature exists in metastatic melanoma patients. Further investigations are needed to better understand the role of these "tumor-educated neutrophils" in modifying melanoma cell behavior.

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1. Cancer Development: the six hallmarks revised

Cancer is caused by the uncontrolled proliferation of cells that have lost their normal regulatory systems. Indeed, cancer cells are able to proliferate continuously, invade adjacent tissues, migrate to distant sites, and promote the growth of new blood vessels from which they draw nutrients. The term "tumor" refers to a mass of cancerous tissue that has invaded and destroyed healthy neighboring tissues as a result of malignant cells growing. In 2000, in their seminal paper, Hanahan and Weinberg first described the six hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). First of all, cancer cells are capable to sustain proliferative signaling because of autocrine signals produced by cancer cells themselves. In most cases, activation of oncogenes and/or deactivation of tumor suppressor genes lead to uncontrolled cell cycle progression and inactivation of apoptotic mechanisms. The retinoblastoma (RB) and TP53 genes are examples of tumor suppressor genes which regulate the decision of cells to proliferate or to activate senescence or apoptotic pathways (Sherr and McCormick 2002, Burkhart, Ngai et al. 2010). Apoptosis is a highly regulated cell death process, essential for the growth and maintenance of a healthy cell population in mature organisms. A crucial aspect of carcinogenesis is the deregulation of apoptotic mechanisms (Adams and Cory 2007). As a result, cancers overcome cell death and maintain their capacity for replication (Blasco 2005). This transition is called "immortalization". Finally, cancer retains the ability to promote angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis. Angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis are processes by which new blood and lymphatic vessels form, respectively. However, in a more recent point of view, tumors are not merely considered as masses composed of proliferating cells but a complex microenvironment characterized by several cell types which interact each other. Two new hallmarks of cancer have been identified during the past 20 years as a result of rigorous experimental work: the ability to modify cellular metabolism and the resistance to immune system. Otto Warburg was the first to describe a peculiar aspect of cancer cell energy metabolism: cancer cells modify their glucose metabolism, and consequently to produce energy, even in the presence of oxygen by restricting their metabolism primarily to glycolysis, resulting in a condition known as "aerobic glycolysis" (Warburg 1956). Mechanisms resulting in evasion of the immune system include the selection of tumor variants resistant to immune effectors ("immunoediting") and the progressive formation of an immune suppressive environment within the tumor (Vinay, Ryan et al. 2015). The acquisition of these tumor hallmarks is possible by mean of two enabling factors: cancer cell genetic instability and cancer-related inflammation (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

#### 2. Cancer related inflammation

In 1863 Rudolf Virchow first described the link between cancer and inflammation. Indeed, he discovered that tumors raised at sites of chronic inflammation, and that some kinds of irritants, in combination with tissue injury and inflammation, promoted cell proliferation (Balkwill and Mantovani 2001). The tumor microenvironment (TME) results from the interactions between cancerous and unaltered cells, through a network of inflammatory mediators (cytokines, chemokines, prostaglandins). TME consists on immune cells, pericytes, fibroblasts, and blood and lymphatic vessels (Quail and Joyce 2013). Stromal and tumor cells produce chemokines and other molecules that contribute to the activation and recruitment of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (Bottazzi, Polentarutti et al. 1983). The main factors supporting macrophage survival and polarization include vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor (TGF- $\beta$ ), and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF/CSF1) (Bottazzi, Polentarutti et al. 1983, Bottazzi, Polentarutti et al. 1983). CCL2/MCP1 is the main chemotactic factor for monocytes (Li, Knight et al. 2013). In response to signals derived from TME, macrophages undergo polarization, i.e. they are able to finely modulate their phenotype and therefore activate specific functional programs, which leads to two different polarization states (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004, Biswas and Mantovani 2010, Galdiero, Garlanda et al. 2013). Classical activation in M1 occurs upon stimulation by microbial components (such as Lipopolysaccharide – LPS) and/or INF- $\gamma$  and is characterized by antigen presentation capacity, high IL-12 and IL-23 production, activation of type IV hypersensitivity response and high reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004). For these reasons, M1 cells promote resistance to intracellular pathogens and tumors. Alternative signals such as IL-4, IL-13 and/or IL-10 induce polarization towards the M2 phenotype, characterized by poor antigen presenting ability, poor production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, ability to produce immunosuppressive cytokines (such as IL-10) and pro-angiogenic factors (such as VEGF-A) (Mantovani, Sica et al. 2004). For these characteristics, M2 macrophages play an important role in the modulation of the inflammatory response, in the promotion of angiogenesis and tissue remodeling. TAMs were found in several tumor types and were associated with poor prognosis (Bingle, Brown et al. 2002). TAMs are not the only cell population that influence tumor growth and progression. Recent evidence reveals that also neutrophils infiltrate tumors (TANs) and play important roles in tumor progression (Fridlender, Sun et al. 2009).

#### 3. The Neutrophils

Neutrophils were discovered by Paul Ehrlich in the late nineteenth century and are the most abundant white blood cells in the human circulation. Neutrophil granules contain a variety of enzymes, membrane and matrix proteins and are classified in three major groups based on their protein content: primary (azurophilic), secondary and tertiary granules. The primary granules are characterized by the presence of myeloperoxidase, a bactericidal and hydrolytic enzyme; the secondary granules are characterized by the presence of lactoferrin and lysozyme; tertiary granules are characterized by the presence of metalloprotease 9 (MMP-9, also called Gelatinase B) (Bainton, Ullyot et al. 1971).

Neutrophils are as the first line of defense against pathogens and, since their discovery and characterization, their significance was limited to the early stages of inflammation and resistance to extracellular infections (Borregaard 2010, Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Jaillon, Galdiero et al. 2013).

Indeed, neutrophils were characterized by limited lifespan and terminally differentiated phenotype and their function in coordinating the different phases of inflammation and immune response has been neglected for long time. This point of view has been changed by new evidences suggesting several novel functional aspects for these underestimated cells. The discovery that some conditions, such as chronic inflammation, can extend the lifespan of neutrophils together with the development of new methods for obtaining highly pure neutrophil preparations have provided new insights into the functions of neutrophils (Jaillon, Galdiero et al. 2013).

### 3.1 Granulocytopoiesis

Under the influence of cytokines and growth factors, in the bone marrow (BM) hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into myeloblasts, promyelocytes, myelocytes, metamyelocytes, band cells and finally granulocytes (Borregaard 2010). Only mature neutrophils exit the BM under physiological conditions, and CXCR4 is essential for controlling neutrophil homing or egression (Lapidot and Kollet 2002). BM hematopoietic stem cells express CXCR4, which binds the stromal cell protein CXCL12/SDF-1, which is mostly expressed by osteoblasts. Myeloid cell retention in the BM is mediated by CXCR4, whose expression gradually declines during myeloid maturation. In parallel, CXCR2 expression increases and controls BM egression of the mature neutrophil (Lapidot and Kollet 2002). Indeed, CXCR2 deficiency results in a myelokathexis-like phenotype with a retention of neutrophils in the BM. CXCR2 signals are not needed for neutrophil mobilization if CXCR4 is absent. Neutrophil egression and chemotaxis within the circulation are promoted by endothelial-derived chemokines (CXCR2 ligands), whereas BM osteoblasts release CXCL12 which mediates neutrophil retention.

The primary factor controlling the differentiation of neutrophils is granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). G-CSF is produced in the BM by stromal cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage, vascular endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and mesothelial cells. G-CSF stimulates the proliferation,

5

differentiation, and activation of granulocyte precursors (Demetri and Griffin 1991). G-CSF is essential during infections, but it is not strictly needed for granulocytopoiesis since G-CSF<sup>-/-</sup> mice still exhibit residual granulocytopoiesis and release mature neutrophils (Lieschke, Grail et al. 1994).

A process known as the "neutrostat regulatory loop" is responsible for the regulation of neutrophil production in the bone marrow (Stark, Huo et al. 2005, Ley, Smith et al. 2006). The rate of apoptosis of peripheral neutrophils is an important regulator of myelopoiesis. Under homeostatic conditions, BM neutrophil production and peripheral neutrophil removal are balanced (Stark, Huo et al. 2005). Neutrophil turnover can be modulated during an inflammatory response (Colotta, Re et al. 1992). IL-23 is produced by macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) in inflammatory conditions in gutassociated lymphatic tissue. IL-23 stimulates Th17 cells to produce IL17A, which in turn enhances the production of G-CSF by BM stromal cells (Stark, Huo et al. 2005). When neutrophils complete their functions in target tissues, undergo apoptosis and are phagocytosed by macrophages. This process, called "efferocytosis", reduces IL-23 production by myeloid cells, completing the feedback that regulates granulocytopoiesis (Stark, Huo et al. 2005). Several in vivo studies described that a circadian rhythm was involved in the patrol of circulating neutrophil. This mechanism was related to a feedback circuit that involves selectins, chemokine receptors and ß2-integrins. As circulating neutrophils get older, the expression of CXCR4 and CD11b increases and L-selectin (CD62L) is downregulated. Neutrophils with a CD62<sup>Low</sup>CXCR4<sup>high</sup> phenotype re-enter the BM and are eliminated by the local macrophages (Casanova-Acebes, Pitaval et al. 2013). Phagocytosis of aged neutrophils by BM-associated macrophages reduces the production of CXCL12 by macrophages (Casanova-Acebes, Pitaval et al. 2013). This modulation of the neutrophil trafficking is caused by nervous system signals generated from the light cycle.

#### 3.2 Neutrophil activation

After leaving the BM, mature neutrophils reach the sites of tissue inflammation through the circulation. The migration of neutrophils at sites of injury is a process referred to as "neutrophil recruitment" and involves sequential steps: tethering, rolling, adhesion, crawling and, transmigration (Hallett and Lloyds 1995). Some molecules, such as the bacterial-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and Formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP), as well as chemoattractants and cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNFa), interleukin (IL)-1β, and IL-17, increase the expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells (P-selectins, E- selectins and several members of the integrin superfamily, ICAMs) (Borregaard 2010). On the surface of neutrophils, two constitutively expressed proteins are critical for the recognition of the endothelial inflammatory signals: the P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) and L-selectin (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). Upon random contact with the endothelium, these molecules engage P- selectins and E-selectins on endothelial cells, resulting in tethering of neutrophils to the vessel wall. Chemoattractants and cytokines induce changes in the conformation of the cell surface-expressed integrins. This process is important for the "firm adhesion" (Yago, Shao et al. 2010). Indeed, neutrophil adhesion is mediated by the  $\beta$ 2-integrins LFA-1 and Mac-1 (Issekutz and Issekutz 1992). β2 integrin binding to ICAM1 is essential for firm adhesion. Some studies revealed that immediately upon adhesion, there is a significant crawling of neutrophils to distant sites (Phillipson, Heit et al. 2006). This integrin-dependent step of the recruitment cascade prepares neutrophils for transmigration. In fact, neutrophils crawl along the vessel wall until a preferred site of transmigration is reached. Crawling neutrophils move towards endothelial junctions localized between endothelial cells. Then, to go through the basement membrane, and finally migrate between pericytes. Then they leave the vasculature and reach the tissue site (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013).

### 3.3 Neutrophils and Inflammation

Inflammation is a physiological response against tissue damage, characterized by multiple signals that initiate and sustain this response (Majno 1998). Several cellular elements are attracted where tissue damage occurs, given the expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules (Coussens and Werb 2002). Neutrophils produce several mediators able to remodel the extracellular matrix, oxidants (ROS) and vasoactive mediators (de Visser, Eichten et al. 2006). Neutrophil effector functions are phagocytosis, degranulation, ROS production and the release of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs). In addition, neutrophils produce cytokines, which further fuel the inflammatory response (Tecchio, Scapini et al. 2013). When the inflammatory response is resolved, the neutrophil undergoes apoptosis.

Neutrophils are professional phagocytes (Lee, Harrison et al. 2003). The interaction between phagocytes and foreign body is accompanied by intracellular signals that trigger different cellular processes such as the rearrangement of the cytoskeleton, the alterations in the membrane traffic, the activation of killing mechanisms, the production of cytokines and chemokines (Aderem and Underhill 1999, Greenberg 1999). The particle internalization process involves a variety of distinct molecular and morphological processes (Aderem and Underhill 1999). Internalization of antibody-opsonized particles is characterized by extension of the phagocyte membrane around the particles, recruitment of Syk tyrosine kinase, and production of pro-inflammatory mediators. In contrast, phagocytosis of complement-opsonized particles occurs without appreciable membrane extension, does not require Syk and is often not accompanied by the production of inflammatory mediators (Aderem and Underhill 1999). Phagocytosis is a complex process in which a microorganism is internalized in a vacuole called "phagosome". Once the foreign body has been engulfed in the phagosome, a process of phagosome maturation begins: the NADPH oxidase enzyme complex is assembled on the phagocytosed elements (Lee, Harrison et al. 2003). ROS are highly reactive small molecules,

which constantly interact each other, resulting in the formation of a myriad of oxidant molecules that can be responsible for oxidative DNA damage that can promote mutagenesis in target cells (Knaapen, Gungor et al. 2006).

# 3.4 Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)

The formation of NETs is one of the neutrophil antimicrobial weapon, which was first discovered in 2004 (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004). NETs are filamentous chromatin structures composed of histones, proteases, granular and cytosolic proteins (Jorch and Kubes 2017). The release of NETs favors the immobilization and capture of bacteria (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Pilsczek, Salina et al. 2010, Amini, Stojkov et al. 2018, Robledo-Avila, Ruiz-Rosado et al. 2018), fungi (Muniz, Silva et al. 2018, Silva, Rodrigues et al. 2020) and viruses (Yazdani, Roy et al. 2019, Zuo, Yalavarthi et al. 2020). NETosis requires chromatin decondensation, which involves the generation of ROS, the translocation of neutrophil elastase (NE) from granules to nucleus, the citrullination of histones by peptidylarginine deaminase 4 (PAD4) and the induction of neutrophil autophagy (Wang and Wang 2013). The production of oxygen peroxide by NADPH oxidase and subsequent conversion by myeloperoxidase (MPO) is another important factor in NET formation. In fact, neutrophils lacking MPO or NAPDH (such as in patients with Chronic Granulomatous Disease, or CGD), show reduced NET synthesis, that further accounts for the increased susceptibility to infections of CGD (Bianchi, Hakkim et al. 2009, Metzler, Fuchs et al. 2011). The NETosis process is tightly regulated. Indeed, the activation of this process depends on the balance between two biological activities: nuclear translocation and phagolysosome homing for NE. Small microbes are taken up in the phagosome and activate phagocytosis. Phagocytosis involves the fusion of azurophilic granules to the phagosome, and therefore the sequestration of NE within the phagolysosome away from the nucleus. In contrast, when microbes are too large to be phagocytosed, NE is released from the azurophilic granules to the nucleus (Branzk, Lubojemska et al. 2014). Once in the nucleus, NE cleaves histones, decondenses

chromatin and drives NET formation (Papayannopoulos, Metzler et al. 2010). According to these findings, the size of the microbes is the factor that determines the need of NET formation. Since a number of pathogens have evolved strategies to circumvent phagocytosis, NET formation can also be viewed as an immune response to overcome these resistance strategies (Branzk, Lubojemska et al. 2014).

Similarly to other neutrophil related molecules, NETs can also be dangerous for the host. Excessive and deregulated NET production causes a variety of pathologic diseases, including autoimmunity, sepsis, and thrombosis. A subset of systemic lupus erithemathosus (SLE) patients, for example, display an impaired DNAse-1 activity, due to the presence of DNAse-1 inhibitors or to antibodies that bind NETs and protect them from DNAse-1. The persistence of NETs correlated with anti-dsDNA titers and lupus nephritis. Anti-NETs antibodies and persistent NETs could also form "NET immunocomplexes", which are relevant in the exacerbation of SLE and could be pathogenic in the development of lupus nephritis (Hakkim, Furnrohr et al. 2010). NETs were recently shown to activate platelets and induce thrombosis. Indeed, NETs provide a scaffold for platelet and red blood cell adhesion and aggregation (Fuchs, Brill et al. 2010). In a murine model of deep venous thrombosis, neutrophils were needed for activation of factor XII and propagation of the thrombosis cascade (von Bruhl, Stark et al. 2012). In addition, NET components such as DNA, histones and proteases retain intrinsic pro-coagulant activities. For instance, genomic DNA potentiated proteolytic activity of coagulation factors (Kannemeier, Shibamiya et al. 2007). Moreover, histones contained in NETs are cytotoxic for endothelium and can be responsible for thrombosis *in vivo* (Xu, Zhang et al. 2009).

The term "NETosis" was initially coined to indicate a mechanism of cell death in addition to necrosis and apoptosis, which follows the release of NETs (Nathan 2006). PMA is one of the main inducers of NETosis, dependent on ROS production (Takei, Araki et al. 1996). Beyond PMA, additional agonists responsible for NET release were discovered, such as IL-8/CXCL8, IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\gamma$ /C5a, GM-CSF/C5a, and LPS (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Yousefi, Mihalache et al. 2009, Caielli, Athale et al. 2016, Amini, Stojkov et al. 2018). NETosis classically occurs within 2–4 h after neutrophil activation (Fuchs, Abed et al. 2007, Keshari, Verma et al. 2013, Douda, Yip et al. 2014) and is also called as "suicidal" NETosis, since the release of NETs is associated with cell death. Recently, a NADPH oxidase -independent NET formation connected to mitochondrial ROS generation was also identified (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Remijsen, Vanden Berghe et al. 2011). During suicidal NETosis, PMA binds to protein kinase C (PKC), which induces the release of calcium from intracellular stores leading to Raf-MEK-ERK pathway activation (Takei, Araki et al. 1996, Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Hakkim, Furnrohr et al. 2010), as well as to the ROS-dependent activation of p38 MAPK (Keshari, Verma et al. 2013). MPO and NE are released from the azurophil granules and translocate into the nucleus (Papayannopoulos, Metzler et al. 2010, Metzler, Goosmann et al. 2014). The increase of intracellular calcium levels activates the PAD4. PAD4 catalyses the deamination of histones H2A, H3 and H4, changing the arginine residues into citrullines. As a result, histones lose their positive charge and chromatin loses its compaction (Neeli, Dwivedi et al. 2009). As a final result of this activation pathway, the neutrophil dies.

Quite recently, a different form of NETosis was described, named "vital NETosis", in which the intracellular content is released in the extracellular space but the neutrophil remains alive (Yousefi, Mihalache et al. 2009, Yipp and Kubes 2013, Jorch and Kubes 2017, Amini, Stojkov et al. 2018, Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2020). Vital NETosis was first described following the priming of granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and stimulation with C5a or LPS. The vital NET release occurred also within few minutes of bacterial stimulation with *Staphylococcus aureus* (Pilsczek, Salina et al. 2010). In vital NET formation, the multilobed nucleus was rapidly condensed. The separation of the inner and outer nuclear membranes and budding of vesicles occur, with the vesicles filled with nuclear DNA. The vesicles are extruded intact into the extracellular space where they release the chromatin. This entire process occurs via a unique, very rapid (5–60 min), oxidant-independent mechanism (Pilsczek, Salina et al. 2010).

Recently we demonstrated, in the context of cancer, that soluble mediators derived from anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC) cell lines induced mitochondrial ROS activation and vital release of NETs containing mitochondrial DNA. We also found that ATC-induced NETs promoted *in vitro* the viability of cancer cells, suggesting an important tumor-promoting role of NETs in ATC (Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2020).

#### 3.5 Neutrophil and NETs in Cancer

Neutrophils were identified among the inflammatory cells infiltrating human tumors (Donskov 2013). Neutrophils can be recruited to sites of tumorigenesis by chemokines such as CXCL8/IL-8 and/or CXCL1/Gro-a (Eck, Schmausser et al. 2003). In the context of cancer-related inflammation, neutrophils are a source of inflammatory mediators (Mantovani 2009). TANs were proposed as key mediators of neoplastic transformation, tumor progression, angiogenesis and in the modulation of the antitumor immune response (Mantovani, Cassatella et al. 2011). In particular, recent experimental evidence indicates that neutrophils can be endowed with unsuspected plasticity. In fact, on the one hand they can inhibit tumor growth by killing tumor cells, on the other hand they can promote tumor progression (Piccard, Muschel et al. 2012, Galdiero, Bonavita et al. 2013, Galdiero, Varricchi et al. 2018). By mimicking the polarization of macrophages in M1 and M2 (Biswas and Mantovani 2010), it has been proposed that also neutrophils can undergo polarization into N1 and N2 phenotypes (Fridlender, Sun et al. 2009). N1 neutrophils, mainly induced by IFN-β-related signaling, are characterized by increased expression of TNF-a, poor production of VEGF-A and MMP-9 and poor cytotoxic functions. Upon the influence of TGF-β, neutrophils turn towards a defined N2 phenotype, with pro-tumorigenic, pro-angiogenic and immunosuppressive functions (Fridlender, Sun et al. 2009). In recent years, several experimental evidences demonstrate that tumor infiltration of neutrophils and their accumulation in the neoplastic tissue were associated with poor patient prognosis (Bellocq, Antoine et al. 1998, Wislez, Rabbe et al. 2003, Jensen, Donskov et al. 2009,

Kuang, Zhao et al. 2011, Jensen, Schmidt et al. 2012). In a mouse model of lung inflammation, sustained activation of neutrophils lead to the production of ROS which favored DNA damage, increased mutation rate and cancer initiation (Gungor, Knaapen et al. 2010). In mouse models of lung cancer, NE promoted tumor growth and progression. In fact, NE degraded the insulin receptor (IRS-1), favoring the interaction between phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and the platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR): this binding promoted the proliferation of tumor cells (Houghton 2010, Houghton, Rzymkiewicz et al. 2010). GM-CSF stimulated neutrophils to produce Oncostatin M, which induced the release of VEGF from human breast tumor cells promoting their invasive potential (Queen, Ryan et al. 2005). Neutrophil infiltration in human tumors such as renal carcinomas (Jensen, Donskov et al. 2009), squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck (Trellakis, Bruderek et al. 2011) and bronchoalveolar carcinomas (Wislez, Rabbe et al. 2003) was associated with poor prognosis. However, in some tumors such as gastric tumors, the density of TANs is associated with a favorable prognosis (Caruso, Bellocco et al. 2002) and therefore the role of neutrophils in cancer is still controversial.

Evidence on the role of NETs in cancer has increased in recent years. NETs were reported to drive endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) which plays an important role in tumorigenesis (Visciano, Liotti et al. 2015, Pieterse, Rother et al. 2017). In mouse models of Lewis lung carcinoma and 4T1-induced breast cancer, tumor-bearing mice displayed higher plasma NET levels compared to control mice. In tumor-bearing mice, neutrophils displayed an increased susceptibility to produce NETs spontaneously, which correlated with thrombi formation and a pro-coagulation state (Demers, Krause et al. 2012, Park, Wysocki et al. 2016). In a mouse model of orthotopic pancreatic adenocarcinoma, genetic deletion of PAD4 decreased circulating NET levels and increased the survival of tumor-bearing mice (Miller-Ocuin, Liang et al. 2019). In human diffuse large B cell lymphomas, intratumoral and circulating NETs correlated with a worse patient prognosis. Moreover, NETs promoted tumor cell proliferation and migration *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Nie, Yang et al. 2019). CXCL8/IL-8, autocrinously produced by several human cancer cell lines, can induce NET formation from neutrophils and G-MDSCs (Alfaro, Teijeira et al. 2016, Bates, Gomez Hernandez et al. 2018, Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2020). Beyond CXCL8/IL-8, several cancer-related stimuli (CXCR1/CXCR2-ligands, G-CSF, TGF- $\beta$ ) can induce the release of NETs from human and murine neutrophils, thus linking cancer and NET release (Alfaro, Teijeira et al. 2016, Azevedo, Paiva et al. 2018, Weiss, Hanzelmann et al. 2018, Teijeira, Garasa et al. 2020). Moreover, NETs predict improved survival in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and exert cytotoxic effects on melanoma cells (Millrud, Kagedal et al. 2017, Schedel, Mayer-Hain et al. 2020). Whether changes in quality and quantity of NETs play pro- or anti-tumorigenic effects in different types and in different stages of cancers requires further investigations.

#### 4. Melanoma

Melanoma of the skin is the second most prevalent cancer type in males and the fourth in women in United States (Miller, Nogueira et al. 2022). Metastatic melanoma is a fatal condition. New lifestyles and global atmospheric changes have gradually increased UV exposure of skin, which has mirrored an increase in the prevalence of melanoma (Karimkhani, Boyers et al. 2015). Malignant melanoma can arise from benign nevi or de novo. Malignant melanoma can arise on mucosal epithelium, uvea, and non-UV-exposed skin, and these melanoma forms typically lack the distinctive BRAF mutation (Timar and Ladanyi 2022). Skin and uveal melanoma both have a familial form, although they have different genetic basis. Besides the loss of CDKN2A (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A), germline mutations of CDK4 (cyclin-dependent kinase 4), MITF (microphtalmia-associated transcription factor) and BAP1 (BRCA1-associated protein 1) are the most significant contributors for hereditary melanoma (Law, Macgregor et al. 2012). According to several assessments, the activating mutation of the BRAF oncogene in exon 15/codon 600, which is present in over half of these tumors, is the most common gene defect of cutaneous melanoma (Timar, Vizkeleti et al. 2016, Timar and Ladanyi 2022). With a lower frequency (~20%), the NRAS (neuroblastoma RAS viral (vras) oncogene homolog) oncogene is mutated in melanoma in exon 3/codon 61. Interestingly, with similar frequency (<15%) the KIT (KIT proto-oncogene, receptor tyrosine kinase) gene is also mutated in melanoma (Doma, Barbai et al. 2020). The BRAF-mutant, RAS-mutant, NF1-mutant, and so-called triple wild-type forms are the four basic groups that can be currently classified using molecular biology (Cancer Genome Atlas 2015).

### 5. Role of Immune System in Melanoma

The prognostic value of immune cell infiltration in primary melanoma was analyzed in several studies. A prominent lymphocyte infiltration was an independent prognostic factor for better survival in several studies. However, these data were not confirmed in additional reports (Timar and Ladanyi 2022). Controversial results were reported on the prognostic value of infiltration by T lymphocytes (including CD4+ and CD8+ subsets), or macrophages by immunohistochemistry. A positive prognostic significance of mature dendritic cells and B cells, was described (Ladanyi 2015). With regards of melanoma, UVB modulate the recruitment of inflammatory cells into the skin, including macrophages and neutrophils (Wolnicka-Glubisz, Damsker et al. 2007, Zaidi, Davis et al. 2011, Bald, Quast et al. 2014, Senft, Sorolla et al. 2015). UV irradiation induced neutrophil chemotaxis in the skin, due to the release of HMGB1 from UV-damaged keratinocytes. This neutrophilic inflammation promoted angiotropism and distant metastasis of melanoma cells (Bald, Quast et al. 2014). We recently demonstrated that peripheral blood PD-L1+ PMN frequency efficiently predicted patient prognosis and response to the anti-PD-1 agent nivolumab in stage IV BRAF wild type melanoma patients (Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2022).

The aim of this study was to investigate the role of neutrophils and their mediators in human melanoma.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Cell cultures and preparation of tumor-conditioned media (CM)

Human melanoma cell lines SKMEL28, A375 were from ATCC, cultured and maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% of heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS; endotoxin level <0.1 EU/ml), 50 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin and 2 mM L-glutamine (Euroclone, Milan, Italy) at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% of CO2 and 95% of air. Human Epidermal Melanocytes, adult, lightly pigmented donor, (HEMa-LP) were cultured and maintened, according to the manufacturer instructions (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA). Conditioned media (CM) were prepared and used as follows (Galdiero, Varricchi et al. 2018). Cells were seeded at 10-20% confluence in tissue culture plates. Once the cells reached a confluence of 85-90%, the cell culture medium was replaced with a fresh serum-free medium. After 24 h, this CM was harvested, filtered (0.20 µm pore size filter), and stored at -20°C. All cell lines were routinely checked for *Mycoplasma* contamination.

### Neutrophil purification and culture

The study protocol involving the use of human blood cells was approved by the Ethical Committee of the University of Naples Federico II (prot. n. 301/18), and written informed consent was obtained from blood donors according to the principles expressed in the Declaration of Helsinki. Granulocytes were isolated from buffy coats of healthy donors samples (hepatitis B surface Ag-, hepatitis C virus -, and HIV-) obtained from a leukapheresis unit. Leukocytes were separated from erythrocytes by dextran sedimentation. PMNs were purified by Ficoll-Paque Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) density gradient centrifugation (400 x g for 30 min at 22°C), followed by Percoll (Sigma-Aldrich) (65%) density gradient centrifugation (660 x g for 20 min at 22°C), as previously described (Muzio, Re et al. 1994). Finally PMNs were isolated from granulocytes (to reach >99% purity) by positive elimination of all contaminating cells using the EasySep Neutrophil Enrichment Kit

(StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) (Calzetti, Tamassia et al. 2017). These cells were >99% PMNs as evaluated by flow cytometric analysis with the following antibodies: anti-CD3, anti-CD14, anti-CD15, anti-CD11b, anti-CD193 (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), anti-CD62L (L-selectin) (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) and anti-CD66b (BioLegend, CA, USA). Samples were analyzed on the MACSQuant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and the FlowJo software, v.10. Dead cells, doublets, debris and eosinophils were excluded from the analysis. Data were expressed as percentage of positive cells or median fluorescence intensity (MFI) (Borriello, Iannone et al. 2016).

#### Cell migration assay

Migration of PMNs toward melanoma-CM was evaluated by means of a 3  $\mu$ m cell culture insert in a 96-well companion plates (Corning Costar, New York, USA). The companion plates were loaded with 235  $\mu$ L of a CM or control medium. PMNs (2.5 x 106 PMNs /ml per 75  $\mu$ L) were placed in the insert and allowed to migrate at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 1 hour. At the end of incubation, the cells were centrifugated and resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L of PBS and counted by flow cytometry (MACS Quant Analyzer 10, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). In some experiments, PMNs were pre-incubated with mouse monoclonal anti-CXCR1 and/or anti-CXCR2 blocking antibodies at 10  $\mu$ g/mL (clone 42705 and clone 48311 respectively, R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or the corresponding control isotype (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA) at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 60 minutes and then subjected to the migration assay as already described above.

## **Apoptosis assay**

PMNs (2.5 x 106 cells/mL) were cultured in A375 CM with or without the mouse monoclonal anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody at 10 µg/mL (clone 3209, R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or the corresponding control isotype (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA). PMNs were stained with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Quantification was performed on a MACS Quant flow cytometer (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Live cells were assumed to be double-negative annexin V- PI-. Analysis was performed by means of FlowJo v.10.

#### Flow cytometry

PMNs were kept in RPMI 1640 with 10% of FCS for 30 min at 37°C, then were washed with PBS solution and stimulated with SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM, HEMa CM or control medium with 5% of FCS for 90 minutes at 37°C with 5% of CO2. 2.5 x 105 cells were seeded in 96-well plate (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA) and Zombie Violet dye (BioLegend, CA, USA) was added to evaluate cell viability (20 min, +4°C). Then the cells were stained (20 min, +4°C) in PBS containing 1% FBS. The following antibodies were used: allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated anti-CD66b (clone REA306, diluition 1:50, from Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), VioBlue-conjugated anti-CD193 (clone REA574, 1:10, from Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), peridinin chlorophyll protein (PerCP)-conjugated anti-CD11b (clone REA713, diluition 1:50, from Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Cells were acquired by MACS Quant Analyzer 10 (Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and analyzed by FlowJo software, v.10. Doublets and debris (identified based on forward and side scatter

properties), dead cells (identified with Zombie Violet Fixable Viability Kit; BioLegend) and eosinophils (identified based on the CCR3+ exclusion gate) were excluded from the analysis.

#### Fluorescence, time-lapse, and high-content microscopy

Microscopy experiments were conducted using the Operetta High-Content Imaging System (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA), as previously described (Gobert, Treilleux et al. 2009, Borriello, Iannone et al. 2016). To evaluate NETs release, PMNs were seeded in 96-well black CellCarrier plates (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) in SKMEL28, A375, HEMa CM or control medium, in the presence or absence of 0.5 µM of the cell impermeant SYTOX Green Nucleic Acid Stain (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA) at a controlled temperature (37°C) and CO2 concentration (5%). Nuclei were stained with the bisbenzimide DNA dye Hoechst 33342 (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA). For time-lapse experiments, PMNs were cultured for up to 60 minutes. Within this time period, fluorescence microscopy images of three fields per well were captured every 20 min through a 10X objective. PhenoLOGIC (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) was used for image segmentation and for calculating single-cell results using the dedicated analysis sequence. Cells were identified based on nuclei staining, and NETing cells were identified by their green cloudy appearance. In selected experiments PMNs were incubated with SKMEL28 or A375 CM with 10 µg/mL of monoclonal anti-CXCL8/IL-8 and/or anti-GM-CSF blocking antibodies (clone 6217 and clone 3209, respectively; R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or the relative control isotype (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA) at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 60 minutes. Following this, the percentage of cells (a) that had produced NETs (i.e., cells surrounded by the green cloudy emission detected in the FITC channel) over total cell (b) was calculated using the following formula: (a/b) x 100. To quantify cell morphological features, PMNs were seeded in 96-well black CellCarrier plates (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) and cultured overnight. Within this time window, digital phase contrast images of 15 fields/well were captured every 15 minutes via a 20X objective. PhenoLOGIC (PerkinElmer,

Waltham, MA, USA) was employed for image segmentation and for calculating the single-cell morphological results by the dedicated STAR analysis sequence (Borriello, Iannone et al. 2016). STAR morphology is an enhanced series of algorithms that provide a statistically powerful set of properties for analyzing phenotypes by characterizing cell morphology and the distribution of intensity within regions. The STAR method offer the possibility to calculate symmetry properties, threshold compactness, axial properties, radial properties, and profile (Borriello, Iannone et al. 2016, Borriello, Iannone et al. 2017).

#### Quantification of soluble mediators in culture supernatants or total protein lysates

CXCL8/IL-8, CXCL1/Gro-α, CXCL2/Gro-β, GM-CSF, MMP-9 and MPO concentrations in cell free CM, total protein lysates (0.1% Triton X-100) or patients sera, were assessed in duplicate with commercially available ELISA kits (R&D System, Minneapolis, MN, USA). MMP-9 and MPO levels in total protein lysates were normalized to total protein concentrations as determined by a Bradford protein assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and expressed in micrograms of protein per milligram of total protein. A microplate reader (Tecan, Grodig, Austria, GmbH) was used to determine sample absorbance at 450 nm. The ELISA sensitivity is 31.2-2000 pg/mL (CXCL8/IL-8 and CXCL1/Gro- $\alpha$ ), 15.6-500 pg/mL (CXCL2/Gro- $\beta$ ), 7.80-500 pg/mL (GM-CSF), 31.2-2000 pg/mL (MMP-9) and 62.5-4000 pg/mL (MPO).

### Serum NET detection

Serum circulating levels of DNA fragments (mono- and oligonucleosomes) and Citrullinated Histone H3 (CitH3) were measured by using two different assay. Serum circulating concentrations of monoand oligonucleosomes were measured using Cell Death Detection ELISA kit (Roche, Basel, Swiss). Concentration of CitH3 in serum samples of melanoma patients and/or healthy controls was measured using ELISA kit developed by Cayman Chemicals (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). This kit used a specific monoclonal antibody for histone H3 citrullinated at residue R2, R8 and R17 (clone 11D3). A microplate reader (Tecan, Grodig, Austria, GmbH) was used to determine the mono- and oligonucleosomes and CitH3 sample absorbance respectively at 405 nm and 450 nm. The ELISA sensitivity range was 0.15 – 10 ng/ml (CitH3).

# Patients

27 patients were recruited with a diagnosis of stage IV melanoma, according to VII edition of American Joint Committee on Cancer (Balch, Gershenwald et al. 2009) at the Istituto Nazionale Tumori—IRCCS—Fondazione "G. Pascale" of Naples, Italy. All patients had provided written informed consent for the use of samples according to the institutional regulations (prot. no 33/17). Peripheral blood samples were collected from all patients and freshly processed at diagnosis. Moreover, blood samples of 22 healthy donors, sex and age-matched, were collected at the University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee of the Istituto Nazionale Tumori - IRCCS - Fondazione "G. Pascale" of Naples (prot. no 33/17) and of University of Naples Federico II (n. 301/18) and was conducted in accordance with the international standards of good clinical practice and with the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki. Serum samples were obtained (+4°C, 400 g, 20 min) and stored (-80°C) until used.

# Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by using Prism 8 (GraphPad software). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of the indicated number of experiments. D'Agostino & Pearson normality test was used to test for normality of distribution, and statistical methods were chosen to fit non-normal distribution when appropriate. Values from groups were compared by Student's t test or Mann-Whitney U test based on parametric or nonparametric distribution of the continuous variables. Repeated measures one-way or two-way ANOVA was used were appropriated and described in the figure legends. Correlations between two variables were assessed by Spearman rank correlation analysis and reported as coefficient of correlation (r). Differences with p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

#### Melanoma conditioned media induced PMN chemotaxis

In a first set of in vitro experiments, we studied the capability of melanoma cell lines to induce the migration of PMNs, referred to as chemotaxis. Highly purified PMNs (≥99%) from peripheral blood of healthy donors were allowed to migrate toward a melanoma-CM from SKMEL28 or A375 cell lines conditioned media (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), primary melanocytes conditioned media (HEMa CM) or toward control medium. After 1 hour of incubation, migrating cells were counted by flow cytometry. SKMEL28 CM and A375 CM induced PMN migration as compared to the control medium as well as compared to the HEMa CM (Figure 1A). By contrast, HEMa CM was not able to induce PMN migration. These results suggested that SKMEL28 CM and A375 CM selectively released soluble factors able to induce PMN chemotaxis. Melanoma cell lines produce several CXC chemokines (Rossi, Cordella et al. 2018, Shang and Li 2019), which can be responsible for PMN chemotaxis (Trellakis, Bruderek et al. 2011). CXCL8/IL8, CXCL1/Gro-α, and CXCL2/Gro-β are well-known to have a chemotactic activity, through CXCR1/2, and have an important role in the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Cyster 1999, Dhawan and Richmond 2002, Waugh and Wilson 2008). Large quantities of CXCL8/IL8 and CXCL1/Gro-α were found in melanoma-CM (~ 8 ng/ml and ~ 2 ng/mL respectively) to be constitutively released (Figure 1B-C). A375 CM also contained some CXCL2/Gro-β compared to HEMa CM and SKMEL28 CM (Figure 1D). To better understand the mechanism of PMN chemotaxis, neutralizing antibodies against CXCR1 and/or CXCR2 were used. PMNs were allowed to migrate toward a SKMEL28 CM (Figure 1E) and A375 CM (Figure 1F) in the presence of CXCR1-blocking and/or CXCR2-blocking antibody or the relative isotype control. The results showed that blocking CXCR1 and CXCR2 significantly reduced PMN chemotaxis toward melanoma-CM.

#### A375 conditioned media promoted neutrophil survival

To investigate whether melanoma-derived soluble factors could modulate PMN lifespan, we tested the effect of melanoma-CM on PMN viability. PMNs from healthy donors were cultured in vitro in the presence of melanoma-CM (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium. After 24 hours, PMNs were stained with FITC-conjugated annexin V and PI and subjected to cytofluorimetric analysis. A375 CM markedly increased PMN survival compared to the control medium (Figure 2A). Interestingly, SKMEL28 CM or HEMa CM did not increase PMN survival, suggesting that only A375 cell line produced soluble factors able to increase PMN survival. To dissect the molecular mechanism behind this pro-survival effect, we evaluated the presence of soluble factors known to increase PMN lifespan in melanoma-CM. GM-CSF is a key mediator of proliferation and differentiation of granulocytes and macrophages (Guttman-Yassky, Nograles et al. 2011). Several type of cells, such as macrophages, T cells, endothelial cells fibroblasts and also tumor cells can produce GM-CSF (Shi, Liu et al. 2006). We evaluated the presence of GM-CSF in melanoma-CM by ELISA. A375 cell line constitutively produced high levels of GM-CSF compared to control medium, conversely SKMEL28 cell line or HEMa did not (Figure 2B). To confirm whether A375derived GM-CSF was involved in PMN survival we performed similar experiments in the presence of GM-CSF neutralizing antibody. PMNs were purified and stimulated with A375 CM or with control medium in the presence of an anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody or with the relative isotype control. After 24 hours of incubation, PMNs were stained with FITC-conjugated annexin V and PI and subjected to cytofluorimetric analysis. The pro-survival effect of A375 CM was significantly inhibited by anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody (Figure 2C, 2D, 2E, 2F and 2G). Figures 2D – 2G illustrate representative flow cytometric panels of one out of five independent experiments.

#### A375 conditioned media induced PMN activation

To determine whether melanoma-derived soluble factors induce human PMN activation, we investigated CD66b, CD11b and CD62L (L-selectin) expression on PMNs by flow cytometry (Condliffe, Chilvers et al. 1996, Stocks, Ruchaud-Sparagano et al. 1996). PMNs were stimulated with a melanoma CM, primary melanocyte CM or with the control medium. Then PMNs were stained with antibodies against CD66b, CD11b and CD62L and evaluated by flow cytometry (Galdiero, Varricchi et al. 2018). Under basal conditions, PMNs showed minimal expression of CD66b and CD11b, which rapidly increased after the incubation with both SKMEL28 and A375 CM compared to control medium as well as compared to the HEMa CM (Figure 3A, 3B, 3G and 3H). In particular, A375 CM was the most efficient in inducing CD66b and CD11b up-regulation. Conversely, under resting conditions, PMNs highly expressed CD62L, which rapidly decreased (i.e., shedding) upon A375 CM stimulation (Figure 3C and 3I). Finally this data indicated that melanoma CM, in particular A375 CM, efficiently activated (CD66b and CD11b up-regulation, CD62L shedding) human primary normal PMNs. By contrast, primary melanocyte CM was not able to induce PMN activation. Figures 3D – 3I show representative flow cytometry panels for CD66b (Figure 3A), CD11b (Figure 3B) and CD62L (Figure 3C), with the specific gating strategy and related histograms (Figure 3G, 3H and 3I, respectively)

#### A375 conditioned media modified neutrophil morphology and kinetic properties

Using the high-content imaging system, we measured and tracked changes of morphological characteristics at single-cell level and quantitatively determined these morphological feature distributions in response to the culture conditions (Borriello, Iannone et al. 2016, Borriello, Iannone et al. 2017). PMNs were incubated with SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM, HEMa CM or with control medium for 16 hours at 37°C. PMNs treated with A375 CM showed lower axial length (**Figure 4A**) and roundness (**Figure 4B**), increased asymmetry (**Figure 4C**) cell area (**Figure 4D**). All these

morphological changes typically occur following PMN stimulation by inflammatory cytokines and growth factors (Kutsuna, Suzuki et al. 2004). Furthermore we evaluated kinetic properties by timelapse microscopy. PMNs were cultured in SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM and HEMa CM and control medium for 16 hours at 37°C and 5% of CO<sub>2</sub>. Within this time window, digital phase contrast images were captured every 15 minutes. PMNs stimulated with A375 CM showed an increased straightness (**Figure 4E**) and speed (**Figure 4F**) compared with control medium, as well as compared with HEMa CM and also compared with SKMEL28 CM. These results suggest that PMNs modified their kinetic properties under the influence of A375 CM.

### Melanoma conditioned media induced MMP-9 and MPO release

We then tested the capability of melanoma CM to induce the release of MPO and MMP-9 from human primary neutrophils. PMNs were cultured in SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM and HEMa CM and control medium for 16 hours at 37°C and 5% of CO2. Then, the extracellular levels of MMP-9 and MPO in PMNs supernatants of SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM or HEMa CM or control medium were measured by ELISA. MMP-9 (**Figure 5A**) and MPO (**Figure 5B**) levels were not detectable in melanoma-CM, in HEMa CM and in control medium. MMP-9 and MPO concentrations were increased in PMN supernatants upon SKMEL28 CM or A375 CM stimulation compared with PMNs cultured within HEMa CM or control medium (**Figure 5A-B**). Accordingly, MMP-9 (**Figure 5C**) and MPO (**Figure 5D**)intracellular content were reduced following stimulation with SKMEL28 CM or A375 CM compared to PMNs cultured in control medium or in HEMa CM. These results suggests that SKMEL28 CM and A375 CM mediated the MMP-9 and MPO release from tertiary and primary granules respectively in human primary PMNs.

#### Melanoma conditioned media induced NET release from human neutrophils

To evaluate the ability of melanoma cell lines to induce NET release from PMNs, we used the Operetta High-Content Imaging Screening System. PMNs from peripheral blood of healthy donors were cultured in A375 CM, SKMEL28 CM, HEMa CM or control medium. NETing cells were analyzed using the PhenoLOGIC software with a dedicate analysis sequence. A375 CM and SKMEL28 CM were able to induce NET release from PMN, already after ~20 min of stimulation (**Figure 6A**). HEMa CM and control medium did not induce NET release from PMNs (**Figure 6A**). Quant-iT<sup>TM</sup> PicoGreen<sup>TM</sup> dsDNA Assay Kit was performed on PMN supernatant to confirm dsDNA presence (**Figure 6D**). These results suggest that SKMEL28 CM and A375 CM rapidly and selectively induced NET release from PMNs.

Melanoma cell lines autocrinously produce significant quantities of CXC chemokines and GM-CSF (Sabatini, Chavez et al. 1990, Bardi, Al-Rayan et al. 2019). GM-CSF and CXCL8/IL-8 were able to induce NET release from PMNs (Yousefi, Mihalache et al. 2009, Alfaro, Teijeira et al. 2016). Neutralizing Abs against CXCL8/IL-8 and/or GM-CSF were used to investigate the mechanism behind melanoma CM-induced NET release. Anti-CXCL8/IL-8 blocking antibody inhibited the SKMEL28 CM-induced NET release (**Figure 6B and E**). On the other hand, anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody inhibited the A375 CM –induced NET release (**Figure 6C and F**). Anti-CXCL8/IL-8 blocking antibody did not exert any effect on NET release induced by A375 CM, nor in combination with anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody (**Figure 6C**).

### Serum levels of NET biomarkers and neutrophil-related mediators in melanoma patients

NETs can be released by PMNs upon a variety of immunologic and non-immunologic stimuli (Pilsczek, Salina et al. 2010, Yousefi, Stojkov et al. 2019). Several studies show elevated NETs concentrations in cancer patients compared with healthy controls, correlating with poor patient survival (Yang, Sun et al. 2015, Richardson, Hendrickse et al. 2017, Thalin, Lundstrom et al. 2018). We evaluated the serum levels of nucleosomes and CitH3 as NET biomarkers in serum of MMPs (Grilz, Mauracher et al. 2019). Circulating levels of nucleosomes and CitH3 were increased in MMPs compared with HCs (**Figure 7A-B**). Interestingly, circulating levels of nucleosomes and CitH3 were positively correlated (**Figure 7C**).

We also found that circulating levels of MPO, MMP-9, CXCL8/IL-8 and GM-CSF were significantly increased in MMPs compared with HCs (**Figure 8**). These results suggest that a neutrophil-related signature exists in melanoma patients.

## DISCUSSION

In this study we investigated the effects of melanoma-derived soluble factors on human primary PMNs. We found that soluble factors derived from human melanoma cells can profoundly influence several characteristics of PMNs. Melanoma cells recruited PMNs and significantly promoted their survival and activation, modified PMN morphology and kinetic properties. Moreover, melanoma cells up-regulated neutrophils' proinflammatory activities as well as the expression of factors that promote tumor progression, such as MPO, MMP-9 and NETs. Finally, in a cohort of stage IV melanoma patients we found increased circulating levels of neutrophil-derived mediators, i.e. MMP-9, MPO, GM-CSF and CXCL-8, as well as increased levels of NET biomarkers, compared with HCs, suggesting that a neutrophil-related signature exists in stage IV melanoma patients.

Melanoma of the skin represents one of the most frequent cancers worldwide and, in the metastatic form, is one of the most fatal (Miller, Nogueira et al. 2022). Increasing evidence highlights the multiple roles of immune cells in human melanoma initiation and progression (Navarini-Meury and Conrad 2009, Umansky and Sevko 2012). The pivotal role of immunity in melanoma was established by the introduction of immune checkpoint inhibitors as new therapeutic options in advanced melanoma patients in the last 10 years (Larkin, Chiarion-Sileni et al. 2015, Eggermont, Blank et al. 2018, Eggermont, Robert et al. 2018, Larkin, Chiarion-Sileni et al. 2019). These immune-related therapeutic drugs significantly ameliorated patient prognosis and survival, even in the metastatic type (Miller, Nogueira et al. 2022).

Among innate immune cells involved in melanoma initiation and progression, few studies evaluated the roles of PMNs. In an *in vivo* model of melanoma, UV irradiation induced a TLR4/MYD88-driven neutrophilic skin inflammatory response that was initiated by HMGB1 release from UV-damaged keratinocytes. This TLR4-driven neutrophilic inflammation was in turn responsible for an increased angiotropism of melanoma cells and promoted distant metastasis (Bald, Quast et al. 2014). In humans, the circulating neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) has been used as prognostic biomarker in

30

melanoma (Ferrucci, Gandini et al. 2015, Zaragoza, Caille et al. 2016, Cassidy, Wolchok et al. 2017, Mei, Shi et al. 2017, Capone, Giannarelli et al. 2018), even though with some limitations, due to PMN heterogeneity (Scapini, Marini et al. 2016). We recently demonstrated that peripheral blood PD-L1<sup>+</sup> PMN frequency efficiently predicted patient prognosis and response to the anti-PD-1 agent nivolumab in stage IV BRAF wild type melanoma patients (Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2022). To go deeper inside the mechanisms linking melanoma cells and PMNs, in this paper we investigated the bidirectional cross-talk between melanoma cell lines and primary human PMNs purified from peripheral blood of healthy donors. A375 and SKMEL-28 cell lines, two of the most studied human melanoma cells, were chosen as model of different aggressiveness and malignancy, as demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Pal, Baxter et al. 2015, Rossi, Cordella et al. 2018).

In a first series of *in vitro* experiments we found that melanoma derived CM were able to induce PMN chemotaxis *in vitro*, whereas CM from human primary melanocytes did not. We then evaluated the mediators responsible for this chemotactic effect. The expression and the production of chemokines is a well-known characteristic of melanoma cells (Navarini-Meury and Conrad 2009) (Zhou, Peng et al. 2021). Melanoma-derived chemokines act as both autocrine and paracrine mediators. Indeed, autocrine loops sustain tumor cell activation, reprogramming and metastasis. Paracrine loops orchestrate tumor behavior through the engagement of receptors expressed by stromal and immune cells. In an interesting study investigating gene expression of a series of immunomodulatory genes on human melanoma biopsies, CXCL1/Gro- $\alpha$  and CXCL2/Gro- $\beta$  were significantly over-expressed in the metastatic patient samples compared with not metastatic ones. CXCL1/Gro- $\alpha$  showed a particularly high predictive value and independently predicted the occurrence of distant metastases in the patient cohort (Erdrich, Lourdault et al. 2022). CXCL8/IL-8 also acts as a major key-player in melanoma progression, since autocrinously activates oncogenic signaling, pro-metastatic behavior, drug-resistance and angiogenesis (Filimon, Preda et al. 2021). In our experimental setting, we confirmed that melanoma cells constitutively release CXCL8/IL-8, CXCL1/Gro- $\alpha$  and CXCL2/Gro $\beta$ 

and, accordingly, CM-induced PMN chemotaxis was dependent on CXCR1/2. It is important to note that CM derived from primary melanocytes failed to induce PMN chemotaxis and, indeed, primary melanocyte CM did not contain relevant levels of CXCL8 nor CXCL1/2. These results suggest that the production of chemokines and the chemotactic effect exerted on PMNs is specific of cancer cells and is related to the acquisition of specific features by melanoma cells during the initiation and progression of the disease. Noteworthy, the inhibition of both CXCR1 and CXCR2 was required to block PMN chemotaxis, highlighting the pleiotropic and redundant potential of melanoma-derived chemokines.

Once recruited, melanoma cells were able to significantly increase PMN survival trough the release of GM-CSF. Interestingly, only the more aggressive melanoma cell line A375 produced high levels of GM-CSF and was able to increase PMN survival, whereas the less aggressive SKMEL28 was not. Similarly, the primary melanocytes did not produce GM-CSF, nor modified PMN survival. In addition, we also found that the A375 CM significantly activated PMNs, and profoundly modified PMN morphology and kinetic properties. In contrast with the chemotactic activity, the effects on PMN survival, activation and kinetic properties were differentially regulated by the two different melanoma cell lines, according with their aggressiveness. Indeed, only CM derived from the more aggressive A375 cell line was able to increase PMN survival, induce their activation, modify their morphology and kinetic properties, whereas the CM from the less aggressive SKMEL28 cell line did not. Coherently, CM derived from the primary melanocytes did not modify any PMN property at all. These results suggest that, beyond PMN recruitment, which could be a "bystander effect" of the production of chemokines by melanoma cells, the modulation of PMN behavior is finely tuned according with melanoma progression, suggesting a key role for these cells in the latest stages of melanoma.

PMNs contain a lot of preformed granular enzymes that can be released quickly (Lehman and Segal 2020). We demonstrated that melanoma-CM, but not primary melanocytes CM, were able to induce PMN degranulation and release of MPO and MMP-9, a well-known angiogenic and pro-tumorigenic factor.(Nozawa, Chiu et al. 2006, Hanahan and Weinberg 2011, Moloney and Cotter 2018). MPO is able to activate proMMP-8 and -9, and regulates matrix MMP-7 activity in vitro (Saari, Sorsa et al. 1990, Fu, Kassim et al. 2001). MPO has been implicated in tumor initiation through the support of a hypermutagenic environment due to the action of MPO-derived oxidants that are able to oxidize and modify DNA (Valadez-Cosmes, Raftopoulou et al. 2022). An association between MPO and disease progression has been reported in ovarian and cervical cancers, as well as in CRCs (Droeser, Mechera et al. 2016). MPO stored in primary/azurophilic granules plays important roles in NET formation and ROS production (Yousefi, Mihalache et al. 2009, Hendrix and Kheradmand 2017). MMP-9 exerts several functions in the different phases of metastatic melanoma and could retain clinical value during melanoma progression (Nikkola, Vihinen et al. 2005). MMP-9 is one of a major contributor of tumour progression and a play a key role in extracellular matrix degradation (Ardi, Kupriyanova et al. 2007). Additionally, the production of VEGF and MMP-9 in TANs makes them the primary regulators of angiogenesis and tumour progression in a mouse model of transplantable melanoma and fibrosarcoma (Jablonska, Leschner et al. 2010).

NETs were first described as a protective mechanism through which PMNs performed antibacterial functions (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Brinkmann and Zychlinsky 2012). Growing data suggests that NETs contribute to a number of inflammatory diseases, including cancer (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Hakkim, Furnrohr et al. 2010, Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2020, van den Hoogen, van der Linden et al. 2020, Varricchi, Modestino et al. 2022). In an experimental melanoma model, NETs within the tumor microenvironment (TME) promoted tumor progression (Demers, Wong et al. 2016). By contrast, in an *in vitro* model, NETs decreased melanoma cell viability and migration (Schedel, Mayer-Hain et al. 2020). In our experimental setup, we found that the melanoma-

derived CM induced NET release from human primary PMNs. Compared with primary melanocytes CM and control medium, both the SKMEL28- and A375-derived CM induced NETs release. GM-CSF is a pleiotropic cytokine that influences the differentiation, activation, and survival of a variety of immune cells, including PMNs (Hamilton 2020). GM-CSF is also one of the main mediators responsible for vital NETosis (Yousefi, Mihalache et al. 2009). Serum levels of GM-CSF are a key predictors of metastasis in early melanomas (Mancuso, Lage et al. 2020). CXCL8/IL8 also induced NETs release and play important roles in cancer (Alfaro, Teijeira et al. 2016, Liu, Li et al. 2016). The inhibition of GM-CSF selectively inhibited NETs release induced by A375 CM-primed human PMNs, and the blockage of CXCL8/IL8, selectively inhibited NETs release induced by SKMEL28 CM-primed human PMNs. To evaluate NET release, we used a High-Content Image System, a highthroughput system that allows uniform standardization of cell image acquisition and analysis using specialized software (Gupta, Chan et al. 2018). Although the majority of published approaches use automated NET quantification based on microscopy, they are often not fully automated and rely on an increase in staining area as the only criteria determining the extent of NET formation without knowledge at the single-cell level (Brinkmann, Goosmann et al. 2012, Kraaij, Tengstrom et al. 2016, Mohanty, Sorensen et al. 2017). Automated image quantification has many benefits since it can process numerous images quickly using parameters that define NETs (Gupta, Chan et al. 2018). In order to further verify these results, we also investigated the release of dsDNA, which is usually used as NETs biomarker (Xiao, Jiang et al. 2018).

In this study we found that serum concentrations of PMN-related factors (i.e. MPO, MMP-9, CXCL8/IL8 and GM-CSF) and NETs (i.e. nucleosomes and CitH3) are increased in stage IV melanoma patients compared to the healthy controls. Some of these mediators such as MMP-9 and GM-CSF they have been shown to play a role as a key predictor of metastasis and melanoma progression (Nikkola, Vihinen et al. 2005, Mancuso, Lage et al. 2020). In a recent study it has been proposed an involvement of CXCL8/IL8 and NETs, through measurement of MPO-DNA complexes,

in different types of solid tumours including melanoma (de Andrea, Ochoa et al. 2021). The amount of NET formation *in vivo*, however, is not always reflected by the quantitative presence of circulating DNA. DNA complexes may actually develop as a result of any type of cell death brought on by neutrophilic inflammation (Yousefi, Simon et al. 2020). For this reason we decided to use two different methods (i.e. nucleosomes and CitH3) to detect the serum levels of NETs. In particular CitH3 serum levels, which are thought to be a more reliable indicator of NETs formation, were specifically measured to corroborate our findings (Grilz, Mauracher et al. 2019, Cristinziano, Modestino et al. 2022). Collectively, these results show that four different neutrophil-derived mediators are increased in stage IV melanoma patients and suggest that the PMNs are activated *in vivo* and that NET formation could be associated with the aggressiveness of melanoma.

Although our results indicate the possible involvement of PMNs and NETs in human melanoma, this paper suffers from some limitations. Additional experiments are necessary to understand the role of these "melanoma-educated" PMNs in modifying melanoma behaviour as well as to elucidate the mechanism by which PMNs can promote melanoma progression. *Ex vivo* evidences should be useful to corroborate these data. More in details, immunohistochemical investigations could be performed to evaluate whether TANs locally produce NETs in melanomas. Finally, a larger cohort of patients should be recruited to corroborate these data and, to evaluate any differences in the circulating levels of neutrophil-related mediators as well as in NETs among patients bearing melanomas at different stages of progression.

# **FIGURES**



Fig 1. Melanoma-derived soluble mediators induced neutrophil chemotaxis. A. Neutrophil chemotaxis toward melanoma-CM or the control medium was evaluated using 3 µm cell colture inserts in 96-well companion plates. Neutrophils (2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL per 75 µL) were allowed to migrate (37°C, 60 minutes) toward a melanoma-CM (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium (235 µL per well). At the end of the incubation, the cells were centrifugated and resuspended in PBS (100 µL) and counted by flow cytometry. Data are expressed as migratory cells relative to the control medium (mean ± SEM of five independent experiments). One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \* p < 0.05. B-D. The CXCL8/IL-8 (B), CXCL1/GROa (C) and CXCL2/GROB (D) release by HEMa, SKMEL28 and A375 cells was evaluated by ELISA in a conditioned media or in the control medium. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM of five independent experiments; One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001. E and F. Chemotactic activity of neutrophils via a SKMEL28-derived (E) or A375-derived (F) conditioned medium was analyzed in the presence of blocking antibodies directed against CXCR1 and/or CXCR2 (10 µg/mL) or the related isotype control. Migratory neutrophils were counted by flow cytometry. The results are expressed as percentage of isotype control (mean  $\pm$  SEM of ten independent experiments); One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \* p < 0.05.



**Fig 2. A375-derived soluble factors promoted neutrophil survival. A.** PMNs were cultured in melanoma-CMs (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium for 24 hours. PMNs were then stained with FITC-conjugated annexin V and PI and were evaluated by flow cytometry. Results were expressed as percentages of live cells (mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments); One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005. **B.** The GM-CSF release by HEMa, SKMEL28 and A375 cells was evaluated by ELISA in conditioned media or in the control medium. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments; One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005. **C.** Neutrophil survival in A375-derived conditioned medium was evaluated in the presence of an anti-GM-CSF blocking antibody or the relative isotype control (10 µg/mL). At 24 hours, live cells were stained with FITC-conjugated annexin V and PI and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experised as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experised with FITC-conjugated annexin V and PI and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experised by flow cytometry. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments; \*\* p < 0.01; \* p < 0.05. **D-G**. Illustrate representative flow cytometric panels of one of out of five indipendent experiments.



**Fig 3. A375 conditioned media induced PMN activation. A-C.** Neutrophils were stimulated with melanoma-CM (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium for 90 minutes, stained for neutrophil activation markers CD66b (**A**), CD11b (**B**) and CD62L (**C**) and subjected to cytofluorimetric analysis. The results were expressed as mean fluoscence intesity or percentage of positive cells gated on neutrophils (mean  $\pm$  SEM of seven independent experiments); One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \*\* p < 0.01; \* p < 0.05. **D-F.** Representative flow cytometric panels were gated on live single cells and show forward (FSC) and side scatter (SSC) of EasySep-purified untouched neutrophils (**D**, **E**), since Vioblue-positive cells included both dead cells and CCR3+ cells (eosinophils), both cells were excluded based on a negative gate (**F**). **G-I.** Representative histograms illustrating mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) and cell count for CD66b (**G**), CD11b (**H**) and CD62L (**I**) for one out of seven experiments. MFI = mean fluorescence intesity; FMO = fluorescence minus one.



Fig 4. A375 conditioned media induced morphological changes and kinetic properties in neutrophils. A-D. Neutrophils were stimulated with melanoma-CM (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium for 16 hours and then were imaged by means of an Operetta high-content imaging system at 20x magnification. The images were analyzed in the Harmony software with PhenoLOGIC (PerkinElmer) and a dedicated analysis sequence (morphological properties, method STAR) to evaluate axial lenght (A), roundeness (B), asymmetry (C) and cell area (D). The results were expressed as an increase or decrease compared to the control (mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments); \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \* p < 0.05. E-F. In the same time window, digital phase contrast images of 15 fields/well captured every 15 minutes via a 20x objective in the Operetta high-content imaging system. PhenoLOGIC (PerkinElmer) was employed for image segmentation and to calculate the single-cell kinetic properties straightness (E) and speed (F). The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments; One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \*\* p < 0.01.



**Fig 5. Melanoma-CMs induced MMP-9 and Myeloperoxidase release. A-D.** Neutrophils were cultured in melanoma-CM (SKMEL28 CM, A375 CM), HEMa CM or control medium for 18 hours. At the end of the incubation, neutrophils were harvested and centrifugated (600 x g, 4°C, 5 minutes), and the supernatants were collected. The extracellular content of MMP-9 and Myeloperoxidase from melanoma cell lines and neutrophils (A) and (B) as well as intracellular concentration of MMP-9 and Myeloperoxidase in neutrophils (C) and (D) after cell lysis (Triton X-100, 0,1%) were evaluated by an ELISA. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments; One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \*\* p < 0.01; \* p < 0.05.



Fig 6. Melanoma-CMs induced NETs release from highly purified human neutrophils. A, B, C. Neutrophils (1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL) were seeded in a 96-well CellCarrier plate and cultured in A375, SKMEL28 or HEMa CM or in a control medium (37°C, up to 60 min) in the presence or absence of anti-CXCL8/IL-8 and/or anti-GM-CSF blocking antibodies or the relative isotype control (10 µg/mL) in the presence of the cell-impermeant SYTOX Green Nucleic Acid Stain (0.5 µM). The percentage of cells that produced NETs over total cells was calculated. Data are expressed as percentage of NETing cells versus time 0 (mean ± SEM of five independent experiments using five different donor samples). Two-Way Anova and Bonferroni multiple comparison test (A) or Dunnett's multiple comparison test (B, C); \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \*\* p < 0.01; \* p < 0.05. D, E, F. dsDNA levels in supernatants of neutrophils cultured with A375, SKMEL28 or HEMa CM or in control medium, in the presence or absence of anti-CXCL8/IL-8 and/or anti-GM-CSF blocking antibodies or the relative isotype control (10 µg/mL), were measured by Quant-iT<sup>TM</sup> PicoGreen<sup>TM</sup> dsDNA Assay Kit (ThermoFisher). Results were expressed as mean ± SEM of five independent experiments; \* p < 0.05. One-Way Anova and Dunn's multiple comparison test; \*\*\* p < 0.005; \* p < 0.05.





**Fig 7. Serum levels of NETs in melanoma patients.** Serum concentrations of nucleosomes (**A**) and citrullinated histone H3 (CitH3) (**B**) in melanoma patients (red borders) and healthy controls (black borders) were measured by Cell Death Detection ELISA (Roche) and Citrullinated Histone H3 (clone 11D3) ELISA kit (Cayman), respectively. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM; Student's t test or Mann-Whitney U test according to the parametric or nonparametric distribution of the variables. \*\*\*\* p < 0.001. **C.** Correlation between serum concentrations of nucleosomes and citrullinated histone H3 (CitH3) in melanoma patients. Sperman correlation test; r=0.53; p=0.0043.



Fig 8. Serum levels of neutrophil-related mediators in melanoma patients. Serum concentrations of Myeloperoxidase (A), MMP-9 (B), GM-CSF (C) and CXCL8 (D) in melanoma patients (red borders) and healthy controls (black borders) were measured by ELISA. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Student's t test or Mann-Whitney U test according to the parametric or nonparametric distribution of the variables. \*\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\* p < 0.01.

# REFERENCES

Adams, J. M. and S. Cory (2007). "Bcl-2-regulated apoptosis: mechanism and therapeutic potential." <u>Curr</u> <u>Opin Immunol</u> **19**(5): 488-496.

Aderem, A. and D. M. Underhill (1999). "Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **17**: 593-623.

Alfaro, C., A. Teijeira, C. Onate, G. Perez, M. F. Sanmamed, M. P. Andueza, D. Alignani, S. Labiano, A. Azpilikueta, A. Rodriguez-Paulete, S. Garasa, J. P. Fusco, A. Aznar, S. Inoges, M. De Pizzol, M. Allegretti, J. Medina-Echeverz, P. Berraondo, J. L. Perez-Gracia and I. Melero (2016). "Tumor-Produced Interleukin-8 Attracts Human Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Elicits Extrusion of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **22**(15): 3924-3936.

Amini, P., D. Stojkov, A. Felser, C. B. Jackson, C. Courage, A. Schaller, L. Gelman, M. E. Soriano, J. M. Nuoffer, L. Scorrano, C. Benarafa, S. Yousefi and H. U. Simon (2018). "Neutrophil extracellular trap formation requires OPA1-dependent glycolytic ATP production." <u>Nat Commun</u> **9**(1): 2958.

Amulic, B., C. Cazalet, G. L. Hayes, K. D. Metzler and A. Zychlinsky (2012). "Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **30**: 459-489.

Ardi, V. C., T. A. Kupriyanova, E. I. Deryugina and J. P. Quigley (2007). "Human neutrophils uniquely release TIMP-free MMP-9 to provide a potent catalytic stimulator of angiogenesis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(51): 20262-20267.

Azevedo, P. O., A. E. Paiva, G. S. P. Santos, L. Lousado, J. P. Andreotti, I. F. G. Sena, C. A. Tagliati, A. Mintz and A. Birbrair (2018). "Cross-talk between lung cancer and bones results in neutrophils that promote tumor progression." <u>Cancer Metastasis Rev</u> **37**(4): 779-790.

Bainton, D. F., J. L. Ullyot and M. G. Farquhar (1971). "The development of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes in human bone marrow." <u>J Exp Med</u> **134**(4): 907-934.

Balch, C. M., J. E. Gershenwald, S. J. Soong, J. F. Thompson, M. B. Atkins, D. R. Byrd, A. C. Buzaid, A. J. Cochran, D. G. Coit, S. Ding, A. M. Eggermont, K. T. Flaherty, P. A. Gimotty, J. M. Kirkwood, K. M. McMasters, M. C. Mihm, Jr., D. L. Morton, M. I. Ross, A. J. Sober and V. K. Sondak (2009). "Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification." J Clin Oncol **27**(36): 6199-6206.

Bald, T., T. Quast, J. Landsberg, M. Rogava, N. Glodde, D. Lopez-Ramos, J. Kohlmeyer, S. Riesenberg, D. van den Boorn-Konijnenberg, C. Homig-Holzel, R. Reuten, B. Schadow, H. Weighardt, D. Wenzel, I. Helfrich, D. Schadendorf, W. Bloch, M. E. Bianchi, C. Lugassy, R. L. Barnhill, M. Koch, B. K. Fleischmann, I. Forster, W. Kastenmuller, W. Kolanus, M. Holzel, E. Gaffal and T. Tuting (2014). "Ultraviolet-radiation-induced inflammation promotes angiotropism and metastasis in melanoma." <u>Nature</u> **507**(7490): 109-113.

Balkwill, F. and A. Mantovani (2001). "Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow?" Lancet **357**(9255): 539-545.

Bardi, G. T., N. Al-Rayan, J. L. Richie, K. Yaddanapudi and J. L. Hood (2019). "Detection of Inflammation-Related Melanoma Small Extracellular Vesicle (sEV) mRNA Content Using Primary Melanocyte sEVs as a Reference." Int J Mol Sci **20**(5).

Bates, A. M., M. P. Gomez Hernandez, E. A. Lanzel, F. Qian and K. A. Brogden (2018). "Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) and immunosuppressive biomarker profiles of seven head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cell lines." <u>Transl Cancer Res</u> **7**(3): 533-542.

Bellocq, A., M. Antoine, A. Flahault, C. Philippe, B. Crestani, J. F. Bernaudin, C. Mayaud, B. Milleron, L. Baud and J. Cadranel (1998). "Neutrophil alveolitis in bronchioloalveolar carcinoma: induction by tumor-derived interleukin-8 and relation to clinical outcome." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **152**(1): 83-92.

Bianchi, M., A. Hakkim, V. Brinkmann, U. Siler, R. A. Seger, A. Zychlinsky and J. Reichenbach (2009). "Restoration of NET formation by gene therapy in CGD controls aspergillosis." <u>Blood</u> **114**(13): 2619-2622.

Bingle, L., N. J. Brown and C. E. Lewis (2002). "The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies." <u>J Pathol</u> **196**(3): 254-265.

Biswas, S. K. and A. Mantovani (2010). "Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **11**(10): 889-896.

Blasco, M. A. (2005). "Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **6**(8): 611-622.

Borregaard, N. (2010). "Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes." Immunity **33**(5): 657-670.

Borriello, F., R. Iannone, S. Di Somma, S. Loffredo, E. Scamardella, M. R. Galdiero, G. Varricchi, F. Granata, G. Portella and G. Marone (2016). "GM-CSF and IL-3 Modulate Human Monocyte TNF-alpha Production and Renewal in In Vitro Models of Trained Immunity." <u>Front Immunol</u> **7**: 680.

Borriello, F., R. Iannone, S. Di Somma, V. Vastolo, G. Petrosino, F. Visconte, M. Raia, G. Scalia, S. Loffredo, G. Varricchi, M. R. Galdiero, F. Granata, L. Del Vecchio, G. Portella and G. Marone (2017). "Lipopolysaccharide-Elicited TSLPR Expression Enriches a Functionally Discrete Subset of Human CD14(+) CD1c(+) Monocytes." J Immunol **198**(9): 3426-3435.

Bottazzi, B., N. Polentarutti, R. Acero, A. Balsari, D. Boraschi, P. Ghezzi, M. Salmona and A. Mantovani (1983). "Regulation of the macrophage content of neoplasms by chemoattractants." <u>Science</u> **220**(4593): 210-212.

Bottazzi, B., N. Polentarutti, A. Balsari, D. Boraschi, P. Ghezzi, M. Salmona and A. Mantovani (1983). "Chemotactic activity for mononuclear phagocytes of culture supernatants from murine and human tumor cells: evidence for a role in the regulation of the macrophage content of neoplastic tissues." Int J Cancer **31**(1): 55-63.

Branzk, N., A. Lubojemska, S. E. Hardison, Q. Wang, M. G. Gutierrez, G. D. Brown and V. Papayannopoulos (2014). "Neutrophils sense microbe size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **15**(11): 1017-1025.

Brinkmann, V., C. Goosmann, L. I. Kuhn and A. Zychlinsky (2012). "Automatic quantification of in vitro NET formation." <u>Front Immunol</u> **3**: 413.

Brinkmann, V., U. Reichard, C. Goosmann, B. Fauler, Y. Uhlemann, D. S. Weiss, Y. Weinrauch and A. Zychlinsky (2004). "Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria." <u>Science</u> **303**(5663): 1532-1535.

Brinkmann, V. and A. Zychlinsky (2012). "Neutrophil extracellular traps: is immunity the second function of chromatin?" J Cell Biol **198**(5): 773-783.

Burkhart, D. L., L. K. Ngai, C. M. Roake, P. Viatour, C. Thangavel, V. M. Ho, E. S. Knudsen and J. Sage (2010). "Regulation of RB transcription in vivo by RB family members." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **30**(7): 1729-1745.

Caielli, S., S. Athale, B. Domic, E. Murat, M. Chandra, R. Banchereau, J. Baisch, K. Phelps, S. Clayton, M. Gong, T. Wright, M. Punaro, K. Palucka, C. Guiducci, J. Banchereau and V. Pascual (2016). "Oxidized mitochondrial nucleoids released by neutrophils drive type I interferon production in human lupus." J Exp Med **213**(5): 697-713.

Calzetti, F., N. Tamassia, F. Arruda-Silva, S. Gasperini and M. A. Cassatella (2017). "The importance of being "pure" neutrophils." <u>J Allergy Clin Immunol</u> **139**(1): 352-355 e356.

Cancer Genome Atlas, N. (2015). "Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma." <u>Cell</u> **161**(7): 1681-1696. Capone, M., D. Giannarelli, D. Mallardo, G. Madonna, L. Festino, A. M. Grimaldi, V. Vanella, E. Simeone, M. Paone, G. Palmieri, E. Cavalcanti, C. Caraco and P. A. Ascierto (2018). "Baseline neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and derived NLR could predict overall survival in patients with advanced melanoma treated with nivolumab." <u>J Immunother Cancer</u> **6**(1): 74.

Caruso, R. A., R. Bellocco, M. Pagano, G. Bertoli, L. Rigoli and C. Inferrera (2002). "Prognostic value of intratumoral neutrophils in advanced gastric carcinoma in a high-risk area in northern Italy." <u>Mod Pathol</u> **15**(8): 831-837.

Casanova-Acebes, M., C. Pitaval, L. A. Weiss, C. Nombela-Arrieta, R. Chevre, A. G. N, Y. Kunisaki, D. Zhang, N. van Rooijen, L. E. Silberstein, C. Weber, T. Nagasawa, P. S. Frenette, A. Castrillo and A. Hidalgo (2013). "Rhythmic modulation of the hematopoietic niche through neutrophil clearance." <u>Cell</u> **153**(5): 1025-1035.

Cassidy, M. R., R. E. Wolchok, J. Zheng, K. S. Panageas, J. D. Wolchok, D. Coit, M. A. Postow and C. Ariyan (2017). "Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio is Associated With Outcome During Ipilimumab Treatment." <u>EBioMedicine</u> **18**: 56-61.

Colotta, F., F. Re, N. Polentarutti, S. Sozzani and A. Mantovani (1992). "Modulation of granulocyte survival and programmed cell death by cytokines and bacterial products." <u>Blood</u> **80**(8): 2012-2020.

Condliffe, A. M., E. R. Chilvers, C. Haslett and I. Dransfield (1996). "Priming differentially regulates neutrophil adhesion molecule expression/function." <u>Immunology</u> **89**(1): 105-111.

Coussens, L. M. and Z. Werb (2002). "Inflammation and cancer." <u>Nature</u> **420**(6917): 860-867.

Cristinziano, L., L. Modestino, A. Antonelli, G. Marone, H. U. Simon, G. Varricchi and M. R. Galdiero (2022). "Neutrophil extracellular traps in cancer." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> **79**: 91-104.

Cristinziano, L., L. Modestino, M. Capone, G. Madonna, D. Mallardo, D. Giannarelli, G. D'Angelo, A. L. Ferrara, S. Loffredo, G. Varricchi, V. Vanella, L. Festino, P. A. Ascierto and M. R. Galdiero (2022). "PD-L1(+) neutrophils as novel biomarkers for stage IV melanoma patients treated with nivolumab." <u>Front Immunol</u> **13**: 962669.

Cristinziano, L., L. Modestino, S. Loffredo, G. Varricchi, M. Braile, A. L. Ferrara, A. de Paulis, A. Antonelli, G. Marone and M. R. Galdiero (2020). "Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer Cells Induce the Release of Mitochondrial Extracellular DNA Traps by Viable Neutrophils." J Immunol **204**(5): 1362-1372.

Cyster, J. G. (1999). "Chemokines and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs." <u>Science</u> **286**(5447): 2098-2102.

de Andrea, C. E., M. C. Ochoa, M. Villalba-Esparza, A. Teijeira, K. A. Schalper, M. Abengozar-Muela, I. Eguren-Santamaria, C. Sainz, S. Sanchez-Gregorio, S. Garasa, M. Ariz, C. Ortiz-de-Solorzano, M. E. Rodriguez-Ruiz, J. L. Perez-Gracia, M. D. Lozano, J. I. Echeveste, M. F. Sanmamed and I. Melero (2021). "Heterogenous presence of neutrophil extracellular traps in human solid tumours is partially dependent on IL-8." <u>J Pathol</u> **255**(2): 190-201.

de Visser, K. E., A. Eichten and L. M. Coussens (2006). "Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **6**(1): 24-37.

Demers, M., D. S. Krause, D. Schatzberg, K. Martinod, J. R. Voorhees, T. A. Fuchs, D. T. Scadden and D. D. Wagner (2012). "Cancers predispose neutrophils to release extracellular DNA traps that contribute to cancerassociated thrombosis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **109**(32): 13076-13081.

Demers, M., S. L. Wong, K. Martinod, M. Gallant, J. E. Cabral, Y. Wang and D. D. Wagner (2016). "Priming of neutrophils toward NETosis promotes tumor growth." <u>Oncoimmunology</u> **5**(5): e1134073.

Demetri, G. D. and J. D. Griffin (1991). "Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and its receptor." <u>Blood</u> **78**(11): 2791-2808.

Dhawan, P. and A. Richmond (2002). "Role of CXCL1 in tumorigenesis of melanoma." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **72**(1): 9-18.

Doma, V., T. Barbai, M. A. Beleaua, I. Kovalszky, E. Raso and J. Timar (2020). "KIT Mutation Incidence and Pattern of Melanoma in Central Europe." <u>Pathol Oncol Res</u> **26**(1): 17-22.

Donskov, F. (2013). "Immunomonitoring and prognostic relevance of neutrophils in clinical trials." <u>Semin</u> <u>Cancer Biol</u> **23**(3): 200-207.

Douda, D. N., L. Yip, M. A. Khan, H. Grasemann and N. Palaniyar (2014). "Akt is essential to induce NADPH-dependent NETosis and to switch the neutrophil death to apoptosis." <u>Blood</u> **123**(4): 597-600.

Droeser, R. A., R. Mechera, S. Daster, B. Weixler, M. Kraljevic, T. Delko, U. Guth, S. Stadlmann, L. Terracciano and G. Singer (2016). "MPO density in primary cancer biopsies of ovarian carcinoma enhances the indicative value of IL-17 for chemosensitivity." <u>BMC Cancer</u> **16**: 639.

Eck, M., B. Schmausser, K. Scheller, S. Brandlein and H. K. Muller-Hermelink (2003). "Pleiotropic effects of CXC chemokines in gastric carcinoma: differences in CXCL8 and CXCL1 expression between diffuse and intestinal types of gastric carcinoma." <u>Clin Exp Immunol</u> **134**(3): 508-515.

Eggermont, A. M. M., C. U. Blank, M. Mandala, G. V. Long, V. Atkinson, S. Dalle, A. Haydon, M. Lichinitser, A. Khattak, M. S. Carlino, S. Sandhu, J. Larkin, S. Puig, P. A. Ascierto, P. Rutkowski, D. Schadendorf, R. Koornstra,

L. Hernandez-Aya, M. Maio, A. J. M. van den Eertwegh, J. J. Grob, R. Gutzmer, R. Jamal, P. Lorigan, N. Ibrahim, S. Marreaud, A. C. J. van Akkooi, S. Suciu and C. Robert (2018). "Adjuvant Pembrolizumab versus Placebo in Resected Stage III Melanoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **378**(19): 1789-1801.

Eggermont, A. M. M., C. Robert and S. Suciu (2018). "Adjuvant Pembrolizumab in Resected Stage III Melanoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **379**(6): 593-595.

Erdrich, J., K. Lourdault, A. Judd, D. Kaufman, K. W. Gong, M. Gainsbury, N. Deng, W. Shon and R. Essner (2022). "Four Immune Modulating Genes in Primary Melanoma That Predict Metastatic Potential." <u>J Surg Res</u> **279**: 682-691.

Ferrucci, P. F., S. Gandini, A. Battaglia, S. Alfieri, A. M. Di Giacomo, D. Giannarelli, G. C. Cappellini, F. De Galitiis, P. Marchetti, G. Amato, A. Lazzeri, L. Pala, E. Cocorocchio and C. Martinoli (2015). "Baseline neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated with outcome of ipilimumab-treated metastatic melanoma patients." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **112**(12): 1904-1910.

Filimon, A., I. A. Preda, A. F. Boloca and G. Negroiu (2021). "Interleukin-8 in Melanoma Pathogenesis, Prognosis and Therapy-An Integrated View into Other Neoplasms and Chemokine Networks." <u>Cells</u> **11**(1).

Fridlender, Z. G., J. Sun, S. Kim, V. Kapoor, G. Cheng, L. Ling, G. S. Worthen and S. M. Albelda (2009). "Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **16**(3): 183-194.

Fu, X., S. Y. Kassim, W. C. Parks and J. W. Heinecke (2001). "Hypochlorous acid oxygenates the cysteine switch domain of pro-matrilysin (MMP-7). A mechanism for matrix metalloproteinase activation and atherosclerotic plaque rupture by myeloperoxidase." J Biol Chem **276**(44): 41279-41287.

Fuchs, T. A., U. Abed, C. Goosmann, R. Hurwitz, I. Schulze, V. Wahn, Y. Weinrauch, V. Brinkmann and A. Zychlinsky (2007). "Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **176**(2): 231-241.

Fuchs, T. A., A. Brill, D. Duerschmied, D. Schatzberg, M. Monestier, D. D. Myers, Jr., S. K. Wrobleski, T. W. Wakefield, J. H. Hartwig and D. D. Wagner (2010). "Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **107**(36): 15880-15885.

Galdiero, M. R., E. Bonavita, I. Barajon, C. Garlanda, A. Mantovani and S. Jaillon (2013). "Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in cancer." <u>Immunobiology</u> **218**(11): 1402-1410.

Galdiero, M. R., C. Garlanda, S. Jaillon, G. Marone and A. Mantovani (2013). "Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor progression." <u>J Cell Physiol</u> **228**(7): 1404-1412.

Galdiero, M. R., G. Varricchi, S. Loffredo, C. Bellevicine, T. Lansione, A. L. Ferrara, R. Iannone, S. di Somma, F. Borriello, E. Clery, M. Triassi, G. Troncone and G. Marone (2018). "Potential involvement of neutrophils in human thyroid cancer." <u>PLoS One</u> **13**(6): e0199740.

Galdiero, M. R., G. Varricchi, S. Loffredo, A. Mantovani and G. Marone (2018). "Roles of neutrophils in cancer growth and progression." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **103**(3): 457-464.

Gobert, M., I. Treilleux, N. Bendriss-Vermare, T. Bachelot, S. Goddard-Leon, V. Arfi, C. Biota, A. C. Doffin, I. Durand, D. Olive, S. Perez, N. Pasqual, C. Faure, I. Ray-Coquard, A. Puisieux, C. Caux, J. Y. Blay and C. Menetrier-Caux (2009). "Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome." <u>Cancer Res</u> **69**(5): 2000-2009.

Greenberg, S. (1999). "Modular components of phagocytosis." J Leukoc Biol 66(5): 712-717.

Grilz, E., L. M. Mauracher, F. Posch, O. Konigsbrugge, S. Zochbauer-Muller, C. Marosi, I. Lang, I. Pabinger and C. Ay (2019). "Citrullinated histone H3, a biomarker for neutrophil extracellular trap formation, predicts the risk of mortality in patients with cancer." <u>Br J Haematol</u> **186**(2): 311-320.

Gungor, N., A. M. Knaapen, A. Munnia, M. Peluso, G. R. Haenen, R. K. Chiu, R. W. Godschalk and F. J. van Schooten (2010). "Genotoxic effects of neutrophils and hypochlorous acid." <u>Mutagenesis</u> **25**(2): 149-154.

Gupta, S., D. W. Chan, K. J. Zaal and M. J. Kaplan (2018). "A High-Throughput Real-Time Imaging Technique To Quantify NETosis and Distinguish Mechanisms of Cell Death in Human Neutrophils." <u>J Immunol</u> **200**(2): 869-879.

Guttman-Yassky, E., K. E. Nograles and J. G. Krueger (2011). "Contrasting pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis--part II: immune cell subsets and therapeutic concepts." <u>J Allergy Clin Immunol</u> **127**(6): 1420-1432.

Hakkim, A., B. G. Furnrohr, K. Amann, B. Laube, U. A. Abed, V. Brinkmann, M. Herrmann, R. E. Voll and A. Zychlinsky (2010). "Impairment of neutrophil extracellular trap degradation is associated with lupus nephritis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **107**(21): 9813-9818.

Hallett, M. B. and D. Lloyds (1995). "Neutrophil priming: the cellular signals that say 'amber' but not 'green'." Immunol Today **16**(6): 264-268.

Hamilton, J. A. (2020). "GM-CSF in inflammation." J Exp Med **217**(1).

Hanahan, D. and R. A. Weinberg (2000). "The hallmarks of cancer." <u>Cell</u> **100**(1): 57-70.

Hanahan, D. and R. A. Weinberg (2011). "Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation." <u>Cell</u> **144**(5): 646-674.

Hendrix, A. Y. and F. Kheradmand (2017). "The Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in Development, Repair, and Destruction of the Lungs." <u>Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci</u> **148**: 1-29.

Houghton, A. M. (2010). "The paradox of tumor-associated neutrophils: fueling tumor growth with cytotoxic substances." <u>Cell Cycle</u> **9**(9): 1732-1737.

Houghton, A. M., D. M. Rzymkiewicz, H. Ji, A. D. Gregory, E. E. Egea, H. E. Metz, D. B. Stolz, S. R. Land, L. A. Marconcini, C. R. Kliment, K. M. Jenkins, K. A. Beaulieu, M. Mouded, S. J. Frank, K. K. Wong and S. D. Shapiro (2010). "Neutrophil elastase-mediated degradation of IRS-1 accelerates lung tumor growth." <u>Nat Med</u> **16**(2): 219-223.

Issekutz, A. C. and T. B. Issekutz (1992). "The contribution of LFA-1 (CD11a/CD18) and MAC-1 (CD11b/CD18) to the in vivo migration of polymorphonuclear leucocytes to inflammatory reactions in the rat." <u>Immunology</u> **76**(4): 655-661.

Jablonska, J., S. Leschner, K. Westphal, S. Lienenklaus and S. Weiss (2010). "Neutrophils responsive to endogenous IFN-beta regulate tumor angiogenesis and growth in a mouse tumor model." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **120**(4): 1151-1164.

Jaillon, S., M. R. Galdiero, D. Del Prete, M. A. Cassatella, C. Garlanda and A. Mantovani (2013). "Neutrophils in innate and adaptive immunity." <u>Semin Immunopathol</u> **35**(4): 377-394.

Jensen, H. K., F. Donskov, N. Marcussen, M. Nordsmark, F. Lundbeck and H. von der Maase (2009). "Presence of intratumoral neutrophils is an independent prognostic factor in localized renal cell carcinoma." <u>J Clin Oncol</u> **27**(28): 4709-4717.

Jensen, T. O., H. Schmidt, H. J. Moller, F. Donskov, M. Hoyer, P. Sjoegren, I. J. Christensen and T. Steiniche (2012). "Intratumoral neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with pSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma." <u>Cancer</u> **118**(9): 2476-2485.

Jorch, S. K. and P. Kubes (2017). "An emerging role for neutrophil extracellular traps in noninfectious disease." <u>Nat Med</u> **23**(3): 279-287.

Kannemeier, C., A. Shibamiya, F. Nakazawa, H. Trusheim, C. Ruppert, P. Markart, Y. Song, E. Tzima, E. Kennerknecht, M. Niepmann, M. L. von Bruehl, D. Sedding, S. Massberg, A. Gunther, B. Engelmann and K. T. Preissner (2007). "Extracellular RNA constitutes a natural procoagulant cofactor in blood coagulation." <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(15): 6388-6393.

Karimkhani, C., L. N. Boyers, L. M. Schilling and R. P. Dellavalle (2015). "The Surgeon General Should Say That Indoor Ultraviolet Radiation Tanning Causes Skin Cancer." <u>Am J Prev Med</u> **49**(3): 437-440.

Keshari, R. S., A. Verma, M. K. Barthwal and M. Dikshit (2013). "Reactive oxygen species-induced activation of ERK and p38 MAPK mediates PMA-induced NETs release from human neutrophils." <u>J Cell Biochem</u> **114**(3): 532-540.

Knaapen, A. M., N. Gungor, R. P. Schins, P. J. Borm and F. J. Van Schooten (2006). "Neutrophils and respiratory tract DNA damage and mutagenesis: a review." <u>Mutagenesis</u> **21**(4): 225-236.

Kolaczkowska, E. and P. Kubes (2013). "Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **13**(3): 159-175.

Kraaij, T., F. C. Tengstrom, S. W. Kamerling, C. D. Pusey, H. U. Scherer, R. E. Toes, T. J. Rabelink, C. van Kooten and Y. K. Teng (2016). "A novel method for high-throughput detection and quantification of neutrophil extracellular traps reveals ROS-independent NET release with immune complexes." <u>Autoimmun Rev</u> **15**(6): 577-584.

Kuang, D. M., Q. Zhao, Y. Wu, C. Peng, J. Wang, Z. Xu, X. Y. Yin and L. Zheng (2011). "Peritumoral neutrophils link inflammatory response to disease progression by fostering angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma." J <u>Hepatol</u> **54**(5): 948-955.

Kutsuna, H., K. Suzuki, N. Kamata, T. Kato, F. Hato, K. Mizuno, H. Kobayashi, M. Ishii and S. Kitagawa (2004). "Actin reorganization and morphological changes in human neutrophils stimulated by TNF, GM-CSF, and G-CSF: the role of MAP kinases." <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> **286**(1): C55-64.

Ladanyi, A. (2015). "Prognostic and predictive significance of immune cells infiltrating cutaneous melanoma." <u>Pigment Cell Melanoma Res</u> **28**(5): 490-500.

Lapidot, T. and O. Kollet (2002). "The essential roles of the chemokine SDF-1 and its receptor CXCR4 in human stem cell homing and repopulation of transplanted immune-deficient NOD/SCID and NOD/SCID/B2m(null) mice." Leukemia **16**(10): 1992-2003.

Larkin, J., V. Chiarion-Sileni, R. Gonzalez, J. J. Grob, C. L. Cowey, C. D. Lao, D. Schadendorf, R. Dummer, M. Smylie, P. Rutkowski, P. F. Ferrucci, A. Hill, J. Wagstaff, M. S. Carlino, J. B. Haanen, M. Maio, I. Marquez-Rodas, G. A. McArthur, P. A. Ascierto, G. V. Long, M. K. Callahan, M. A. Postow, K. Grossmann, M. Sznol, B. Dreno, L.

Bastholt, A. Yang, L. M. Rollin, C. Horak, F. S. Hodi and J. D. Wolchok (2015). "Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in Untreated Melanoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **373**(1): 23-34.

Larkin, J., V. Chiarion-Sileni, R. Gonzalez, J. J. Grob, P. Rutkowski, C. D. Lao, C. L. Cowey, D. Schadendorf, J. Wagstaff, R. Dummer, P. F. Ferrucci, M. Smylie, D. Hogg, A. Hill, I. Marquez-Rodas, J. Haanen, M. Guidoboni, M. Maio, P. Schoffski, M. S. Carlino, C. Lebbe, G. McArthur, P. A. Ascierto, G. A. Daniels, G. V. Long, L. Bastholt, J. I. Rizzo, A. Balogh, A. Moshyk, F. S. Hodi and J. D. Wolchok (2019). "Five-Year Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **381**(16): 1535-1546.

Law, M. H., S. Macgregor and N. K. Hayward (2012). "Melanoma genetics: recent findings take us beyond well-traveled pathways." <u>J Invest Dermatol</u> **132**(7): 1763-1774.

Lee, W. L., R. E. Harrison and S. Grinstein (2003). "Phagocytosis by neutrophils." <u>Microbes Infect</u> **5**(14): 1299-1306.

Lehman, H. K. and B. H. Segal (2020). "The role of neutrophils in host defense and disease." <u>J Allergy Clin</u> <u>Immunol</u> **145**(6): 1535-1544.

Ley, K., E. Smith and M. A. Stark (2006). "IL-17A-producing neutrophil-regulatory Tn lymphocytes." <u>Immunol</u> <u>Res</u> **34**(3): 229-242.

Li, M., D. A. Knight, A. S. L, M. J. Smyth and T. J. Stewart (2013). "A role for CCL2 in both tumor progression and immunosurveillance." <u>Oncoimmunology</u> **2**(7): e25474.

Lieschke, G. J., D. Grail, G. Hodgson, D. Metcalf, E. Stanley, C. Cheers, K. J. Fowler, S. Basu, Y. F. Zhan and A. R. Dunn (1994). "Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization." <u>Blood</u> **84**(6): 1737-1746. Liu, Q., A. Li, Y. Tian, J. D. Wu, Y. Liu, T. Li, Y. Chen, X. Han and K. Wu (2016). "The CXCL8-CXCR1/2 pathways in cancer." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **31**: 61-71.

Majno, G. (1998). "Chronic inflammation: links with angiogenesis and wound healing." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **153**(4): 1035-1039.

Mancuso, F., S. Lage, J. Rasero, J. L. Diaz-Ramon, A. Apraiz, G. Perez-Yarza, P. A. Ezkurra, C. Penas, A. Sanchez-Diez, M. D. Garcia-Vazquez, J. Gardeazabal, R. Izu, K. Mujika, J. Cortes, A. Asumendi and M. D. Boyano (2020). "Serum markers improve current prediction of metastasis development in early-stage melanoma patients: a machine learning-based study." <u>Mol Oncol</u> **14**(8): 1705-1718.

Mantovani, A. (2009). "Cancer: Inflaming metastasis." Nature 457(7225): 36-37.

Mantovani, A., M. A. Cassatella, C. Costantini and S. Jaillon (2011). "Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **11**(8): 519-531.

Mantovani, A., A. Sica, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, A. Vecchi and M. Locati (2004). "The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization." <u>Trends Immunol</u> **25**(12): 677-686.

Mei, Z., L. Shi, B. Wang, J. Yang, Z. Xiao, P. Du, Q. Wang and W. Yang (2017). "Prognostic role of pretreatment blood neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in advanced cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 66 cohort studies." <u>Cancer Treat Rev</u> **58**: 1-13.

Metzler, K. D., T. A. Fuchs, W. M. Nauseef, D. Reumaux, J. Roesler, I. Schulze, V. Wahn, V. Papayannopoulos and A. Zychlinsky (2011). "Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity." <u>Blood</u> **117**(3): 953-959.

Metzler, K. D., C. Goosmann, A. Lubojemska, A. Zychlinsky and V. Papayannopoulos (2014). "A myeloperoxidase-containing complex regulates neutrophil elastase release and actin dynamics during NETosis." <u>Cell Rep</u> **8**(3): 883-896.

Miller-Ocuin, J. L., X. Liang, B. A. Boone, W. R. Doerfler, A. D. Singhi, D. Tang, R. Kang, M. T. Lotze and H. J. Zeh, 3rd (2019). "DNA released from neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) activates pancreatic stellate cells and enhances pancreatic tumor growth." <u>Oncoimmunology</u> **8**(9): e1605822.

Miller, K. D., L. Nogueira, T. Devasia, A. B. Mariotto, K. R. Yabroff, A. Jemal, J. Kramer and R. L. Siegel (2022). "Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2022." <u>CA Cancer J Clin</u> **72**(5): 409-436.

Miller, K. D., L. Nogueira, T. Devasia, A. B. Mariotto, K. R. Yabroff, A. Jemal, J. Kramer and R. L. Siegel (2022). "Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2022." <u>CA Cancer J Clin</u>.

Millrud, C. R., A. Kagedal, S. Kumlien Georen, O. Winqvist, R. Uddman, R. Razavi, E. Munck-Wikland and L. O. Cardell (2017). "NET-producing CD16(high) CD62L(dim) neutrophils migrate to tumor sites and predict improved survival in patients with HNSCC." Int J Cancer **140**(11): 2557-2567.

Mohanty, T., O. E. Sorensen and P. Nordenfelt (2017). "NETQUANT: Automated Quantification of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps." <u>Front Immunol</u> **8**: 1999.

Moloney, J. N. and T. G. Cotter (2018). "ROS signalling in the biology of cancer." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **80**: 50-64.

Muniz, V. S., J. C. Silva, Y. A. V. Braga, R. C. N. Melo, S. Ueki, M. Takeda, A. Hebisawa, K. Asano, R. T. Figueiredo and J. S. Neves (2018). "Eosinophils release extracellular DNA traps in response to Aspergillus fumigatus." J <u>Allergy Clin Immunol</u> **141**(2): 571-585 e577.

Muzio, M., F. Re, M. Sironi, N. Polentarutti, A. Minty, D. Caput, P. Ferrara, A. Mantovani and F. Colotta (1994). "Interleukin-13 induces the production of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) and the expression of the mRNA for the intracellular (keratinocyte) form of IL-1ra in human myelomonocytic cells." <u>Blood</u> **83**(7): 1738-1743.

Nathan, C. (2006). "Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **6**(3): 173-182.

Navarini-Meury, A. A. and C. Conrad (2009). "Melanoma and innate immunity--aActive inflammation or just erroneous attraction? Melanoma as the source of leukocyte-attracting chemokines." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> **19**(2): 84-91.

Neeli, I., N. Dwivedi, S. Khan and M. Radic (2009). "Regulation of extracellular chromatin release from neutrophils." J Innate Immun **1**(3): 194-201.

Nie, M., L. Yang, X. Bi, Y. Wang, P. Sun, H. Yang, P. Liu, Z. Li, Y. Xia and W. Jiang (2019). "Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Induced by IL8 Promote Diffuse Large B-cell Lymphoma Progression via the TLR9 Signaling." <u>Clin Cancer</u> <u>Res</u> **25**(6): 1867-1879.

Nikkola, J., P. Vihinen, M. S. Vuoristo, P. Kellokumpu-Lehtinen, V. M. Kahari and S. Pyrhonen (2005). "High serum levels of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and matrix metalloproteinase-1 are associated with rapid progression in patients with metastatic melanoma." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **11**(14): 5158-5166.

Nozawa, H., C. Chiu and D. Hanahan (2006). "Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **103**(33): 12493-12498.

Pal, H. C., R. D. Baxter, K. M. Hunt, J. Agarwal, C. A. Elmets, M. Athar and F. Afaq (2015). "Fisetin, a phytochemical, potentiates sorafenib-induced apoptosis and abrogates tumor growth in athymic nude mice implanted with BRAF-mutated melanoma cells." <u>Oncotarget</u> **6**(29): 28296-28311.

Papayannopoulos, V., K. D. Metzler, A. Hakkim and A. Zychlinsky (2010). "Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **191**(3): 677-691.

Park, J., R. W. Wysocki, Z. Amoozgar, L. Maiorino, M. R. Fein, J. Jorns, A. F. Schott, Y. Kinugasa-Katayama, Y. Lee, N. H. Won, E. S. Nakasone, S. A. Hearn, V. Kuttner, J. Qiu, A. S. Almeida, N. Perurena, K. Kessenbrock, M. S. Goldberg and M. Egeblad (2016). "Cancer cells induce metastasis-supporting neutrophil extracellular DNA traps." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **8**(361): 361ra138.

Phillipson, M., B. Heit, P. Colarusso, L. Liu, C. M. Ballantyne and P. Kubes (2006). "Intraluminal crawling of neutrophils to emigration sites: a molecularly distinct process from adhesion in the recruitment cascade." J Exp Med **203**(12): 2569-2575.

Piccard, H., R. J. Muschel and G. Opdenakker (2012). "On the dual roles and polarized phenotypes of neutrophils in tumor development and progression." <u>Crit Rev Oncol Hematol</u> **82**(3): 296-309.

Pieterse, E., N. Rother, M. Garsen, J. M. Hofstra, S. C. Satchell, M. Hoffmann, M. A. Loeven, H. K. Knaapen, O. W. H. van der Heijden, J. H. M. Berden, L. B. Hilbrands and J. van der Vlag (2017). "Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Drive Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition." <u>Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol</u> **37**(7): 1371-1379.

Pilsczek, F. H., D. Salina, K. K. Poon, C. Fahey, B. G. Yipp, C. D. Sibley, S. M. Robbins, F. H. Green, M. G. Surette, M. Sugai, M. G. Bowden, M. Hussain, K. Zhang and P. Kubes (2010). "A novel mechanism of rapid nuclear neutrophil extracellular trap formation in response to Staphylococcus aureus." J Immunol **185**(12): 7413-7425.

Quail, D. F. and J. A. Joyce (2013). "Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis." <u>Nat Med</u> **19**(11): 1423-1437.

Queen, M. M., R. E. Ryan, R. G. Holzer, C. R. Keller-Peck and C. L. Jorcyk (2005). "Breast cancer cells stimulate neutrophils to produce oncostatin M: potential implications for tumor progression." <u>Cancer Res</u> **65**(19): 8896-8904.

Remijsen, Q., T. Vanden Berghe, E. Wirawan, B. Asselbergh, E. Parthoens, R. De Rycke, S. Noppen, M. Delforge, J. Willems and P. Vandenabeele (2011). "Neutrophil extracellular trap cell death requires both autophagy and superoxide generation." <u>Cell Res</u> **21**(2): 290-304.

Richardson, J. J. R., C. Hendrickse, F. Gao-Smith and D. R. Thickett (2017). "Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Production in Patients with Colorectal Cancer In Vitro." <u>Int J Inflam</u> **2017**: 4915062.

Robledo-Avila, F. H., J. D. Ruiz-Rosado, K. L. Brockman, B. T. Kopp, A. O. Amer, K. McCoy, L. O. Bakaletz and S. Partida-Sanchez (2018). "Dysregulated Calcium Homeostasis in Cystic Fibrosis Neutrophils Leads to Deficient Antimicrobial Responses." J Immunol **201**(7): 2016-2027.

Rossi, S., M. Cordella, C. Tabolacci, G. Nassa, D. D'Arcangelo, C. Senatore, P. Pagnotto, R. Magliozzi, A. Salvati, A. Weisz, A. Facchiano and F. Facchiano (2018). "TNF-alpha and metalloproteases as key players in melanoma cells aggressiveness." J Exp Clin Cancer Res **37**(1): 326.

Saari, H., T. Sorsa and Y. T. Konttinen (1990). "Reactive oxygen species and hyaluronate in serum and synovial fluid in arthritis." Int J Tissue React **12**(2): 81-89.

Sabatini, M., J. Chavez, G. R. Mundy and L. F. Bonewald (1990). "Stimulation of tumor necrosis factor release from monocytic cells by the A375 human melanoma via granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor." <u>Cancer Res</u> **50**(9): 2673-2678.

Scapini, P., O. Marini, C. Tecchio and M. A. Cassatella (2016). "Human neutrophils in the saga of cellular heterogeneity: insights and open questions." <u>Immunol Rev</u> **273**(1): 48-60.

Schedel, F., S. Mayer-Hain, K. I. Pappelbaum, D. Metze, M. Stock, T. Goerge, K. Loser, C. Sunderkotter, T. A. Luger and C. Weishaupt (2020). "Evidence and impact of neutrophil extracellular traps in malignant melanoma." <u>Pigment Cell Melanoma Res</u> **33**(1): 63-73.

Senft, D., A. Sorolla, A. Dewing, G. Claps, E. Lau, G. J. Walker and Z. A. Ronai (2015). "ATF2 alters melanocyte response and macrophage recruitment in UV-irradiated neonatal mouse skin." <u>Pigment Cell Melanoma Res</u> **28**(4): 481-484.

Shang, F. M. and J. Li (2019). "A small-molecule antagonist of CXCR1 and CXCR2 inhibits cell proliferation, migration and invasion in melanoma via PI3K/AKT pathway." <u>Med Clin (Barc)</u> **152**(11): 425-430.

Sherr, C. J. and F. McCormick (2002). "The RB and p53 pathways in cancer." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **2**(2): 103-112.

Shi, Y., C. H. Liu, A. I. Roberts, J. Das, G. Xu, G. Ren, Y. Zhang, L. Zhang, Z. R. Yuan, H. S. Tan, G. Das and S. Devadas (2006). "Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: what we do and don't know." <u>Cell Res</u> **16**(2): 126-133.

Silva, J. C., N. C. Rodrigues, G. A. Thompson-Souza, V. S. Muniz, J. S. Neves and R. T. Figueiredo (2020). "Mac-1 triggers neutrophil DNA extracellular trap formation to Aspergillus fumigatus independently of PAD4 histone citrullination." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **107**(1): 69-83.

Stark, M. A., Y. Huo, T. L. Burcin, M. A. Morris, T. S. Olson and K. Ley (2005). "Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17." <u>Immunity</u> **22**(3): 285-294.

Stocks, S. C., M. H. Ruchaud-Sparagano, M. A. Kerr, F. Grunert, C. Haslett and I. Dransfield (1996). "CD66: role in the regulation of neutrophil effector function." <u>Eur J Immunol</u> **26**(12): 2924-2932.

Takei, H., A. Araki, H. Watanabe, A. Ichinose and F. Sendo (1996). "Rapid killing of human neutrophils by the potent activator phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) accompanied by changes different from typical apoptosis or necrosis." J Leukoc Biol **59**(2): 229-240.

Tecchio, C., P. Scapini, G. Pizzolo and M. A. Cassatella (2013). "On the cytokines produced by human neutrophils in tumors." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> **23**(3): 159-170.

Teijeira, A., S. Garasa, M. Gato, C. Alfaro, I. Migueliz, A. Cirella, C. de Andrea, M. C. Ochoa, I. Otano, I. Etxeberria, M. P. Andueza, C. P. Nieto, L. Resano, A. Azpilikueta, M. Allegretti, M. de Pizzol, M. Ponz-Sarvise, A. Rouzaut, M. F. Sanmamed, K. Schalper, M. Carleton, M. Mellado, M. E. Rodriguez-Ruiz, P. Berraondo, J. L. Perez-Gracia and I. Melero (2020). "CXCR1 and CXCR2 Chemokine Receptor Agonists Produced by Tumors Induce Neutrophil Extracellular Traps that Interfere with Immune Cytotoxicity." Immunity **52**(5): 856-871 e858.

Thalin, C., S. Lundstrom, C. Seignez, M. Daleskog, A. Lundstrom, P. Henriksson, T. Helleday, M. Phillipson, H. Wallen and M. Demers (2018). "Citrullinated histone H3 as a novel prognostic blood marker in patients with advanced cancer." <u>PLoS One</u> **13**(1): e0191231.

Timar, J. and A. Ladanyi (2022). "Molecular Pathology of Skin Melanoma: Epidemiology, Differential Diagnostics, Prognosis and Therapy Prediction." <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> **23**(10).

Timar, J., L. Vizkeleti, V. Doma, T. Barbai and E. Raso (2016). "Genetic progression of malignant melanoma." <u>Cancer Metastasis Rev</u> **35**(1): 93-107.

Trellakis, S., K. Bruderek, C. A. Dumitru, H. Gholaman, X. Gu, A. Bankfalvi, A. Scherag, J. Hutte, N. Dominas, G. F. Lehnerdt, T. K. Hoffmann, S. Lang and S. Brandau (2011). "Polymorphonuclear granulocytes in human head and neck cancer: enhanced inflammatory activity, modulation by cancer cells and expansion in advanced disease." Int J Cancer **129**(9): 2183-2193.

Umansky, V. and A. Sevko (2012). "Melanoma-induced immunosuppression and its neutralization." <u>Semin</u> <u>Cancer Biol</u> **22**(4): 319-326.

Valadez-Cosmes, P., S. Raftopoulou, Z. N. Mihalic, G. Marsche and J. Kargl (2022). "Myeloperoxidase: Growing importance in cancer pathogenesis and potential drug target." <u>Pharmacol Ther</u> **236**: 108052.

van den Hoogen, L. L., M. van der Linden, L. Meyaard, R. D. E. Fritsch-Stork, J. A. van Roon and T. R. Radstake (2020). "Neutrophil extracellular traps and low-density granulocytes are associated with the interferon signature in systemic lupus erythematosus, but not in antiphospholipid syndrome." <u>Ann Rheum Dis</u> **79**(10): e135.

Varricchi, G., L. Modestino, R. Poto, L. Cristinziano, L. Gentile, L. Postiglione, G. Spadaro and M. R. Galdiero (2022). "Neutrophil extracellular traps and neutrophil-derived mediators as possible biomarkers in bronchial asthma." <u>Clin Exp Med</u> **22**(2): 285-300.

Vinay, D. S., E. P. Ryan, G. Pawelec, W. H. Talib, J. Stagg, E. Elkord, T. Lichtor, W. K. Decker, R. L. Whelan, H. Kumara, E. Signori, K. Honoki, A. G. Georgakilas, A. Amin, W. G. Helferich, C. S. Boosani, G. Guha, M. R. Ciriolo, S. Chen, S. I. Mohammed, A. S. Azmi, W. N. Keith, A. Bilsland, D. Bhakta, D. Halicka, H. Fujii, K. Aquilano, S. S. Ashraf, S. Nowsheen, X. Yang, B. K. Choi and B. S. Kwon (2015). "Immune evasion in cancer: Mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> **35 Suppl**: S185-S198.

Visciano, C., F. Liotti, N. Prevete, G. Cali, R. Franco, F. Collina, A. de Paulis, G. Marone, M. Santoro and R. M. Melillo (2015). "Mast cells induce epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and stem cell features in human thyroid cancer cells through an IL-8-Akt-Slug pathway." <u>Oncogene</u> **34**(40): 5175-5186.

von Bruhl, M. L., K. Stark, A. Steinhart, S. Chandraratne, I. Konrad, M. Lorenz, A. Khandoga, A. Tirniceriu, R. Coletti, M. Kollnberger, R. A. Byrne, I. Laitinen, A. Walch, A. Brill, S. Pfeiler, D. Manukyan, S. Braun, P. Lange, J. Riegger, J. Ware, A. Eckart, S. Haidari, M. Rudelius, C. Schulz, K. Echtler, V. Brinkmann, M. Schwaiger, K. T. Preissner, D. D. Wagner, N. Mackman, B. Engelmann and S. Massberg (2012). "Monocytes, neutrophils, and platelets cooperate to initiate and propagate venous thrombosis in mice in vivo." J Exp Med **209**(4): 819-835. Wang, S. and Y. Wang (2013). "Peptidylarginine deiminases in citrullination, gene regulation, health and pathogenesis." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1829**(10): 1126-1135.

Warburg, O. (1956). "On the origin of cancer cells." <u>Science</u> **123**(3191): 309-314.

Waugh, D. J. and C. Wilson (2008). "The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **14**(21): 6735-6741. Weiss, E., D. Hanzelmann, B. Fehlhaber, A. Klos, F. D. von Loewenich, J. Liese, A. Peschel and D. Kretschmer (2018). "Formyl-peptide receptor 2 governs leukocyte influx in local Staphylococcus aureus infections." <u>FASEB J</u> **32**(1): 26-36.

Wislez, M., N. Rabbe, J. Marchal, B. Milleron, B. Crestani, C. Mayaud, M. Antoine, P. Soler and J. Cadranel (2003). "Hepatocyte growth factor production by neutrophils infiltrating bronchioloalveolar subtype pulmonary adenocarcinoma: role in tumor progression and death." <u>Cancer Res</u> **63**(6): 1405-1412.

Wolnicka-Glubisz, A., J. Damsker, S. Constant, S. Corn, E. De Fabo and F. Noonan (2007). "Deficient inflammatory response to UV radiation in neonatal mice." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **81**(6): 1352-1361.

Xiao, F., Y. Jiang, X. Wang, W. Jiang, L. Wang, X. Zhuang, C. Zheng, Y. Ni and L. Chen (2018). "NETosis may play a role in the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis." <u>Int J Clin Exp Pathol</u> **11**(2): 537-547.

Xu, J., X. Zhang, R. Pelayo, M. Monestier, C. T. Ammollo, F. Semeraro, F. B. Taylor, N. L. Esmon, F. Lupu and C. T. Esmon (2009). "Extracellular histones are major mediators of death in sepsis." <u>Nat Med</u> **15**(11): 1318-1321. Yago, T., B. Shao, J. J. Miner, L. Yao, A. G. Klopocki, K. Maeda, K. M. Coggeshall and R. P. McEver (2010). "Eselectin engages PSGL-1 and CD44 through a common signaling pathway to induce integrin alphaLbeta2-mediated slow leukocyte rolling." <u>Blood</u> **116**(3): 485-494.

Yang, C., W. Sun, W. Cui, X. Li, J. Yao, X. Jia, C. Li, H. Wu, Z. Hu and X. Zou (2015). "Procoagulant role of neutrophil extracellular traps in patients with gastric cancer." Int J Clin Exp Pathol **8**(11): 14075-14086.

Yazdani, H. O., E. Roy, A. J. Comerci, D. J. van der Windt, H. Zhang, H. Huang, P. Loughran, S. Shiva, D. A. Geller, D. L. Bartlett, A. Tsung, T. Sheng, R. L. Simmons and S. Tohme (2019). "Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Drive Mitochondrial Homeostasis in Tumors to Augment Growth." <u>Cancer Res</u> **79**(21): 5626-5639.

Yipp, B. G. and P. Kubes (2013). "NETosis: how vital is it?" <u>Blood</u> **122**(16): 2784-2794.

Yousefi, S., C. Mihalache, E. Kozlowski, I. Schmid and H. U. Simon (2009). "Viable neutrophils release mitochondrial DNA to form neutrophil extracellular traps." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **16**(11): 1438-1444.

Yousefi, S., D. Simon, D. Stojkov, A. Karsonova, A. Karaulov and H. U. Simon (2020). "In vivo evidence for extracellular DNA trap formation." <u>Cell Death Dis</u> **11**(4): 300.

Yousefi, S., D. Stojkov, N. Germic, D. Simon, X. Wang, C. Benarafa and H. U. Simon (2019). "Untangling "NETosis" from NETs." <u>Eur J Immunol</u> **49**(2): 221-227.

Zaidi, M. R., S. Davis, F. P. Noonan, C. Graff-Cherry, T. S. Hawley, R. L. Walker, L. Feigenbaum, E. Fuchs, L. Lyakh, H. A. Young, T. J. Hornyak, H. Arnheiter, G. Trinchieri, P. S. Meltzer, E. C. De Fabo and G. Merlino (2011). "Interferon-gamma links ultraviolet radiation to melanomagenesis in mice." Nature **469**(7331): 548-553.

Zaragoza, J., A. Caille, N. Beneton, G. Bens, F. Christiann, H. Maillard and L. Machet (2016). "High neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio measured before starting ipilimumab treatment is associated with reduced overall survival in patients with melanoma." <u>Br J Dermatol</u> **174**(1): 146-151.

Zhou, X., M. Peng, Y. He, J. Peng, X. Zhang, C. Wang, X. Xia and W. Song (2021). "CXC Chemokines as Therapeutic Targets and Prognostic Biomarkers in Skin Cutaneous Melanoma Microenvironment." <u>Front</u> Oncol **11**: 619003.

Zuo, Y., S. Yalavarthi, H. Shi, K. Gockman, M. Zuo, J. A. Madison, C. Blair, A. Weber, B. J. Barnes, M. Egeblad, R. J. Woods, Y. Kanthi and J. S. Knight (2020). "Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19." <u>JCI Insight</u> **5**(11).